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Our Vision 
is to be a major, commercially 
successful and sustainable 
Trust Port, integral to the 
North East of Scotland’s 
transport infrastructure 
and providing an increasingly 
significant contribution 
to its economic growth.
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The consistency of our vessel tonnage 

figures is, in some part, due to the 

ever-increasing average vessel size that 

we are experiencing.

“ “
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It would be a considerable understatement  

to say that the last twelve months have been 

an interesting time for the North East and,  

in particular,the oil and gas sector. I noted that 

in my statement last year, I referenced early 

indicators of difficult times ahead, but I believe 

very few predicted what was to come. The 

elemental and sustained reduction in oil price 

may have ‘impacted’ global economics, but 

for the oil and gas industry in the UK it has 

fundamentally altered the economic landscape.

Yet, there are positives to be found when we 

look out over these altered horizons. It is 

widely observed that the UK industry has 

reacted quickly, reforming operating practices 

and streamlining organisational structures, 

with the resulting efficiencies reducing 

operating costs at a faster rate than 

anticipated. Some forecasters are also more 

bullish about the future, and it is hoped that 

their predictions prove to be robust. 

For Aberdeen Harbour there have also been 

reasons to be upbeat. Activity in 2015 

remained relatively high, with 4.2 million tonnes 

of cargo crossing our quaysides; a reduction  

of 5.1% compared 2014, and vessel tonnage  

of 27.5 million tonnes; a reduction of just  

2.1% over the same period. 

In terms of oil and gas activity, DSV and 

Seismic vessel activity was, predictably, 

most impacted, but supply vessel activity 

remained fairly steady, reducing by just 

3.7% at 16.1 million vessel tonnes, compared 

with the previous year. Over the same period, 

safety vessel activity increased by 18.3%, 

at 1.1 million vessel tonnes. 

Commercial cargo success stories included 

increased Northern Isles activity: passenger 

numbers grew by almost 3% to over 156,000, 

which is a record figure for Aberdeen Harbour, 

whilst vehicle and livestock activity with the 

islands also increased. 

The consistency of our vessel tonnage figures 

is, in some part, due to the ever-increasing 

average vessel size that we are experiencing. 

For the second year running, Aberdeen Harbour 

welcomed both its largest vessel ever, in the 

form of the Lewek Express (at 20,643 gross 

tonnes), and the longest vessel ever, in the form 

of the HHL Rio De Janeiro (at 168.5 metres 

long). Indeed, the average vessel size entering 

the harbour has increased by more than 150% 

in the last 25 years.

This trend means that, even now, we 

continue to face regular capacity challenges 

due to the lack of deepwater berthage in the 

current port, making the need for physical 

expansion all the more vital. 

This need is also compounded by recent 

indications that the current low oil price may 

fast track plans for decommissioning of 

assets in the North Sea, moving the window 

of opportunity to anchor such activity in the 

North East of Scotland.

Sustained activity levels have also contributed 

to positive commercial out-turn. Turnover 

increased in 2015, to £31.7 million from  

£28.8 million in 2014, and pre-tax profits 

increased to £15.03 million, compared with 

£12.36 million in 2014. 

These figures were boosted by the 

application of a second annual rate increase  

of 15% plus RPI. As our customers are aware, 

these increases are a key element of our 

current focus on accumulating reserves to 

fund the potential Aberdeen Harbour 

Expansion Project. 

It is also important to reiterate that, as a  

Trust Port, we have no shareholders; 

therefore, all such surpluses are reinvested  

into the operation, maintenance and 

improvement of the port – of which our 

expansion proposals form an integral part. 

These statements also allow me to express 

my appreciation to those who contribute to 

the ongoing success of the port. I would like 

to thank the Aberdeen Harbour Board staff 

for all of their hard work and dedication 

throughout this past year. 

I would also like to thank my fellow 

non-executive members of the Board, 

to congratulate Howard Woodcock on his 

re-appointment as Vice-Chairman, and to 

congratulate Mike Bowyer, Morag McNeill 

and Tony Strachan on their re-appointment 

as non-executive Board members. 

I would wish to express my appreciation to 

our many stakeholders for their continued 

support, and to restate our continued 

commitment to supporting a wide range of 

charity and community groups each year 

through our Community Action Programme.

A key stakeholder group is, of course, our 

customers and, during a year in which they 

have faced significant challenges, we would 

like to thank them for their understanding 

and support for our proposed expansion plans 

which, we believe, will be a game-changer 

for the Region, in terms of capability and 

overall potential cost reduction. 

ALISTAIR MACKENZIE 

Chairman, 30 March 2016

I AM VERY PLEASED TO BE MAKING THIS ANNUAL REVIEW STATEMENT 
IN MY SECOND YEAR AS CHAIRMAN OF ABERDEEN HARBOUR BOARD. 
IT AFFORDS ME A GREAT OPPORTUNITY TO UPDATE YOU ON ALL THAT 
HAS BEEN HAPPENING HERE AT THE PORT.

CHAIRMAN’S
STATEMENT



Activity, however, has remained remarkably 

high, given the economic climate, and we 

believe that, so far, our mixed portfolio of 

activity has helped to insulate Aberdeen 

Harbour Board from the very worst effects 

of the downturn. That said, we are cognisant 

of the challenges that have faced many of 

our customers in these recent months.

Last year, in this statement, I suggested that 

a sustained low oil price could have the effect 

of bringing the decommissioning phase of the 

UKCS upon us even faster and, throughout 

last year, a growing body of evidence 

emerged to support this theory.

It is vital, therefore, that the Region turns this 

significant threat into an opportunity, and 

explores every possible avenue by which we 

might retain this activity in the North East of 

Scotland. We believe that the key to unlocking 

this opportunity is the availability of modern, 

state-of-the-art, long and deepwater berthing 

facilities, in a location close to the established 

supply chain and centres of excellence.

It is not just oil and gas activity that would 

benefit from such facilities. The Scottish 

cruise ship industry had an incredible 

record-breaking year in 2015, with Scottish 

Ports welcoming over 500 cruise ship calls 

and more than 460,000 passengers.

These levels of activity are predicted to 

grow further, and yet at present, the 

configuration and dimensions of the existing 

port mean that Aberdeen is only able to 

accommodate the smaller, specialist-type 

cruise vessels. The North East, therefore, 

is missing out on the bonanza of new 

business and diversification of activity that 

this sector provides to other ports and regions 

around Scotland.

It has been with an increasing sense of 

purpose, therefore, that we have pressed 

ahead with our harbour expansion feasibility 

study, and much progress has been made 

in the last twelve months. 

We reached the completion of a major 

environmental impact assessment, whilst 

extensive ground investigations and wave 

modelling programmes acted to inform the 

design of the proposed new facilities. 

We have also journeyed far along the 

planning consent road, and elements of this 

process are still very much underway. 

The design and scale of the plans for the new 

facilities are impressive. The project would 

provide an additional 125,000 square metres 

of laydown area and 1,400 metres of quayside, 

all with a minimum depth of nine metres.  

This additional quayside may represent just 

a 23% increase on quayside currently provided  

in the existing harbour, but it represents a 

notable 800% increase in deepwater 

berthage compared with existing facilities.

The project also provides us with the 

opportunity to improve many of the public 

amenity areas and facilities surrounding the site 

of the proposed development, including the 

improvement of the coastal path, the 

introduction of new viewing areas and even 

outdoor classroom facilities.

Since the beginning of the study, we have 

continued to receive wide-spread industry 

and community backing. Support has been 

received from across the political spectrum, 

and from both UK and Scottish Governments, 

with the latter including the development as 

an integral element of its National Planning 

Framework (3).

We have been further developing our 

business case for the project, and have 

received a series of positive indications  

in terms of funding. It is hoped that these  

can be further consolidated and, combined 

with the required consents, will allow the 

Board to give final approval for the project  

by the end of this summer, with a view to 

construction commencing in Spring 2017.

Throughout this feasibility study, the Board 

has carried out an extensive programme of 

consultation with our local communities, 

port users, customers and industry bodies, 

in advance of the submission of the relevant 

consenting applications. I would like to 

personally thank all of our stakeholders for 

their support in this.

We can assure them that our efforts are 

being fully channelled into providing the 

improved facilities that will underpin the 

potential for new, diverse business streams 

and commercial activity on which future 

prosperity of the Region can be built.

COLIN PARKER 

Chief Executive, 30 March 2016

AS OUR CHAIRMAN HAS DESCRIBED, ABERDEEN HAS BEEN 
WITNESS TO MUCH CHANGE IN THE LAST TWELVE MONTHS, 
AND THE REPERCUSSIONS OF THIS HAVE ALSO HAD AN IMPACT 
ON THE HARBOUR. 
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“Our efforts are being fully channelled into 

providing the improved facilities that will 

underpin the potential for new, diverse 

business streams and commercial activity.

“
CHIEF 
EXECUTIVE’S 
REPORT
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BECAME A 
MODERN 
TRUST PORT IN

1961

OVER

100
TRUST PORTS 
IN UK

ALL PROFITS OR SURPLUSES 
ARE REINVESTED BY THE 
TRUST PORT INTO ITS  
DEVELOPMENT, MAINTENANCE 
AND ADMINISTRATION.

A TRUST PORT’S STAKEHOLDERS CONSTITUTE A WIDE 
AUDIENCE, INCLUDING EMPLOYEES; LOCAL RESIDENTS; 
COMMUNITIES; PORT USERS (INCLUDING CREWS AND 
PASSENGERS); CUSTOMERS; LOCAL AND NATIONAL 
GOVERNMENT REPRESENTATIVES; BUSINESS COMMUNITIES; 
STATUTORY AUTHORITIES; LOCAL INTEREST GROUPS AND 
ENVIRONMENTAL BODIES. 

DID YOU KNOW?



Operating a Trust Port
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The duty of Trust Board members and staff 
is to ‘hand it [the port] on in the same or 
better condition to succeeding generations. 
This remains the ultimate responsibility of  
the Board, and future generations remain the 
ultimate stakeholder’.* In other words, it is 
the role of the Board members, and those 
working for the organisation, to safeguard and 
improve the port so that it continues to flourish.

A Trust Port differs from a privately owned 
facility in that it has no shareholders who 
require a dividend. Instead, all ‘profit’ or 
surpluses made from Trust Port operations 
are reinvested into the operation, 
maintenance and administration of the port.

There are approximately 100 Trust Ports in the 
UK, and Trust Port status has proven to be  

a highly successful model for Aberdeen, 

since becoming a Trust in 1961. It allows the 

Harbour to operate in a commercial 

environment with no direct public funding, but 

also enables it to compete in the open market 

with private and local authority-owned facilities. 

Continuous Improvement

A long-term view is at the heart of everything 

we do at Aberdeen Harbour. We are committed 

to constantly improving and modernising 

harbour assets, services and infrastructure  

for the benefit of all our stakeholders.  

Major infrastructure projects can be 

undertaken with greater confidence than in 

other areas of the private sector. A Trust Port 

is also free from shareholder pressure and, 

traditionally, Aberdeen Harbour has refrained 

from increasing harbour rates above inflation 

unless it has had a specific harbour-related 

improvement reason for doing so.

Stakeholders

There are many, many stakeholders of a  

Trust Port, playing an intrinsic role in 

operational matters and also shaping how  

the port is perceived in the local community. 

Stakeholders have a crucial role to play in 

driving Aberdeen Harbour forward. By working 

together, the Board and stakeholders can 

deliver a vibrant, prosperous port that will 

provide a bright and secure future for many 

generations to come.

*(Modern Trust Ports for Scotland – a guide to good governance.)

Fundamental to the role of a Trust Port is 
engagement with its stakeholders.

Aberdeen Harbour takes advantage of many 
forms of communication to ensure its 
relationship with stakeholders is a productive 
and proactive one. 

These include: 

>  Annual Public Meeting (May)
>  Stakeholder Christmas Lunch (December)
>  Annual Review (published in May)
> Website News and Community Pages 
>  News Articles in Local and National Media
>  Industry Publications
>  Community Publications
>  Attending Community Council Meetings

KEY OBJECTIVES

PRINCIPAL 
MARINE SUPPORT 
CENTRE FOR OIL 
AND GAS AND 
RENEWABLES

PRINCIPAL 
MAINLAND PORT 
FOR LIFELINE 
NORTH ISLES 
FERRY SERVICES

MAIN 
COMMERCIAL PORT 
FOR NORTH EAST 
SCOTLAND

ENHANCED 
RELATIONSHIP 
WITH 
STAKEHOLDERS

CONTINUOUS 
ENVIRONMENTAL 
IMPROVEMENT

STAKEHOLDER 
ENGAGEMENT

A Trust Port is an independent statutory body, created by an Act of Parliament. It is not controlled 
by a local authority, nor is it a private business. Instead, it is run by an independent Board, for the 
benefit of its stakeholders, and governed by its own local legislation. 



01  JAMES BELL 
Finance Director  
Board member since 2011

James joined Aberdeen 
Harbour Board in 2009 from 
Caledonian Brewery, where 
he had been head of finance 
since 2002. He trained with 
Bird Simpson Chartered 
Accountants and has worked 
with Meston Reid and 
Diageo. James is also 
Chairman of the Finance 
Group of British Ports 
Association, which was 
initiated in 2010. 

02  GEORGE MASSIE 
Non-executive member  
Board member since 2011

A Chartered Architect, Town 
Planner and Development 
Consultant, George has worked 
both in private practice and 
local government on 
large-scale, complex 
development projects. 
He is an active member of 
the Scottish Council for 
Development and Industry, 
Institute of Directors and is 
a former committee member 
of the North East Scotland 
Preservation Trust. 

03  MORAG McNEILL 
Non-executive member 
Board member since 2013

Morag is a lawyer and was a 
partner in McGrigors LLP before 
joining Forth Ports PLC as General 
Counsel in 2005. She left 
Forth Ports in 2012 and now 
has a portfolio of non-executive 
directorships including 
Caledonian Maritime Assets 
Limited and the Scottish 
Exhibition and Conference 
Centre Limited. Morag is a 
trustee of a number of 
charities and is also a 
member of the Court at 
Heriot-Watt University 
and the Audit Committee at 
University of Aberdeen. 

04  TONY STRACHAN 
Non-executive member  
Board member since 2013

Tony is a Fellow of the 
Institute of Chartered 
Secretaries and Administrators. 
Between 2003 and 2010 he 
served as the Bank of 
England’s representative in 
Scotland. He is Deputy Chair 
at Heriot-Watt University  
and also Chair of its 
Remuneration Committee.

05  MIKE PORTER 
Non-executive member 
Board member since 2015

Mike entered the oil and gas 
industry in the late 1970s 
and is experienced in the 
provision of offshore logistics, 
marine and integrated supply 
base solutions. He has held 
several leadership positions, 
latterly as Chief Operating 
Officer with Peterson prior to 
joining the Harbour Board in 
January 2015.

06  CHRIS BAIN 
External Relations Director  
Board member since 2014

Chris began her career 
in helicopter and marine 
logistics in 1994, later 
working as a Logistics 
Manager with Petrofac,  
Dubai Petroleum and 
Ras Al Khaimah Petroleum. 
She joined the Aberdeen 
Harbour Executive in 
April 2013. 
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BOARD CONSTITUTION

Aberdeen Harbour Board is an independent statutory authority formed under the 
terms of the Aberdeen Harbour Order Confirmation Act 1960. It is responsible for the 
administration, maintenance and improvement of the port. The Board is comprised 
of nine non-executive members and two senior officials, appointed by the Board, 
and the Chief Executive.

BOARD APPOINTMENT PROCESS

Appointments of non-executive Board members are based on equal opportunities 
and on merit. Candidates are sought who have a complementary range of qualities, 
competencies and experience.

All vacancies are openly advertised and appointments are made by the Board after 
a process of interviewing and selection, carried out by an appointing panel (including 
independent persons). 

TERMS OF OFFICE

All non-executive members hold office for a term of three years. Consideration 
for reappointment is subject to performance, however, a vacating member, 
other than the Chairman and Vice-Chairman, will not be eligible for reappointment 
if they have previously served three consecutive terms (i.e. nine years).

The Chairman and Vice-Chairman will not be eligible for reappointment as a member 
if they have held office as a member for four consecutive terms (i.e. 12 years).

THE REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee consists of four members, the Chairman, 
the Vice-Chairman and two non-executive Board members. Its principal duties 
are to consider matters relating to staff wages and salaries. The Committee 
also considers, in detail, items or issues delegated or remitted by the Board and 
reports back with recommendations or details of actions taken. 

THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee consists of five non-executive Board members. Its principal 
duties are to manage external audits of management controls; to review external 
and internal audit strategy and to appoint and manage external auditors; to review 
annual/management accounts and financial statements; to monitor the performance 
of the Board’s long-term investments, and to benchmark the Board’s corporate 
governance performance.

THE PROPERTY COMMITTEE

The Property Committee consists of four non-executive Board members and its 
principal duties are to prepare and keep under review the estate management 
strategies relating to the Board’s land and property holdings; to consider appropriate 
opportunities for extending the Board’s property portfolio, and to review the 
appointment, performance and fees of the Board’s external property advisors.

OUR BOARD
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07  MALCOLM LAING  
Non-executive member  
Board member since 2012

Malcolm is a corporate 
lawyer and partner in 
Ledingham Chalmers LLP 
with over thirty years’ 
experience of corporate and 
commercial work including 
the energy service sector. 
He is also vice-chair of 
the charity, Cornerstone.

08  MIKE BOWYER 
Non-executive member 
Board member since 2013

Mike is a Chartered 
Engineer and Chartered 
Director who has worked 
in the oil and gas industry 
for over 40 years, holding 
senior executive positions 
with several companies. 
A past Chair of the Aberdeen 
Branch of the Institute of 
Directors he is currently a 
Board member of Acona AS, 
a Norwegian Service Company. 

09  FRED BOWDEN 
Non-executive member  
Board member since 2011

Fred is the chairman of 
Fife-based Tullis Russell 
Group, where he was Chief 
Executive for two years 
before being appointed to 
the Board. He is also a 
Trustee of the Russell Trust 
and Non-executive Chairman 
of the leading child care 
company, Childbase.

10  ALISTAIR   
MACKENZIE 
Chairman  
Board member since 2010

Alistair has worked in 
Aberdeen’s energy industry 
for more than 20 years. He is 
currently European Director 
(Oil & Gas) for Achilles 
Group Limited and owner/
director of Mentor Aviation 
Services Ltd. Alistair is also 
Chairman of the Northern 
Lighthouse Board. 

11  COLIN PARKER 
Chief Executive 
Board member since 2003

Colin commenced employment 
with Aberdeen Harbour in 
December 1987 and was 
appointed by the Board to 
the post of Chief Executive in 
2006. Colin is a Council 
Member of the British Ports 
Association. He became 
Chairman of the Scottish 
Council for Development and 
Industry’s North East Committee 
in January 2012 and is also a 
member of its main board. 
Colin joined Opportunity 
North East’s Oil & Gas board 
in December 2015.

12  HOWARD 
WOODCOCK 
Vice-Chairman 
Board member since 2012

Howard has been involved 
in shipping and marine 
businesses for 30 years. 
He has been Chief Executive 
of Bibby Offshore Holdings 
Limited since 2005 and has 
also helped with the 
fundraising for a number  
of local organisations, 
including Cornerstone  
and Absafe.

BOARD MEMBER ATTENDANCE 2015

Board  
Meetings

Remuneration 
Committee

Audit  
Committee

Property 
Committee

NON-EXECUTIVE MEMBERS

Alistair Mackenzie (Chairman) 8 of 8 1 of 1 N/A N/A

Howard Woodcock (Vice-Chairman) 7 of 8 1 of 1 N/A 3 of 3

Mike Bowyer 8 of 8 1 of 1 5 of 5 N/A

George Massie 7 of 8 N/A N/A 3 of 3

Malcolm Laing 7 of 8 N/A 4 of 5 N/A

Fred Bowden 7 of 8 1 of 1 4 of 5 N/A

Mike Porter 8 of 8 N/A N/A 3 of 3

Morag McNeill 8 of 8 N/A 5 of 5 3 of 3

Tony Strachan 8 of 8 N/A 5 of 5 N/A

EXECUTIVE MEMBERS

Colin Parker (Chief Executive) 8 of 8 1 of 1 N/A N/A

Chris Bain (External Relations Director) 8 of 8 N/A N/A N/A

James Bell (Finance Director) 8 of 8 N/A 5 of 5 N/A

09 NON-EXECUTIVE 
MEMBERS

03 EXECUTIVE 
MEMBERS

EXPERT KNOWLEDGE IN:

FINANCE, LAW,  
OIL AND GAS, 
PROPERTY,
PORTS, MARINE 
AND COMMERCIAL

12 BOARD 
MEMBERS

 09

07
08

09
10

11 12



01 02 03

08 09

06

07

04 05



Who’s who at 
Aberdeen Harbour

COLIN PARKER 
Chief Executive

KEITH YOUNG 
Engineering Director

JAMES BELL 
Finance Director

RAY SHAW 
Operational Director & 
Harbour Master 

BRIAN ANDREW 
Assistant Harbour Master 

DANNY STROUD 
Assistant Harbour Master

DEREK ARMSTRONG 
Assistant Finance Director

CHRIS BAIN 
External Relations Director

MATT NORTH 
Commercial Director

01

03

04

05

06

ABERDEEN MANAGEMENT TEAM

07

02

THE STRUCTURE OF THE ABERDEEN HARBOUR EXECUTIVE TEAM 

IS DESIGNED TO ENSURE THAT THE SKILL SETS AND EXPERIENCE 

ARE IN PLACE SO THAT ALL OF THE PRIMARY FUNCTIONS OF 

THE PORT ARE NOT ONLY CARRIED OUT PROFICIENTLY AND SAFELY, 

BUT IN SUCH A WAY THAT THE STRATEGIC AIMS OF THE BOARD 

ARE APPLIED AT EVERY JUNCTURE. 

As Chief Executive, Colin Parker leads the team, whose responsibilities include 
the fundamental task of ensuring vessels have a safe and navigable place of shelter; 
that the integrity and design of the quays and waterways are kept to the highest 
engineering standards; ensuring the organisation applies a system of sound 
financial management and remains commercially successful; whilst maintaining 
a high level of interaction and engagement with the wide range of harbour 
stakeholders, who include staff members, customers, port users, local community 
and interest groups, and local and regional economies and authorities.

“We have a great complement of talents and skills within our executive team, 
with each Director committed to the values and success of the organisation. 
The team are all strong exponents of the Trust Port model, and its strategically 
long-term view, having witnessed the benefits that its application has brought to 
the organisation, its stakeholders and local and regional economies. They also 
share the Board’s vision for Aberdeen Harbour to remain a major, commercially 
successful and sustainable Trust Port, integral to the North East of Scotland’s 
transport infrastructure and providing an increasingly significant contribution to 
its economic growth.” Colin Parker, Chief Executive.
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HISTORICAL CONNECTIONS
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Loss of the Whaling ship ‘Oscar’

Whale hunting was vital to Scotland’s economy in the 1750s. Many North East vessels took part in the 
highly dangerous expeditions to places including Antarctica. 

Whaling ships were commonplace in Aberdeen Harbour but, on 
1st April 1813, events unfolded that had a dramatic impact on the 
whole community.

The Hercules, Latona, Middleton, Oscar and St Andrew, had laid anchor 
outside the port. With some crew ashore the Oscar and St Andrew 
had remained closer to the harbour mouth. 

When a squall of severe weather blew up, both vessels were forced to 
stay near land awaiting the return of their crews.

By the time the crew was back aboard the Oscar, a second squall hit. 
The vessel was caught and her anchor started to drag. 

She finally grounded on the rocks at Greyhope Bay, where the sea 
continued to pound her. She broke up almost immediately. Knowing 
they were in perilous danger, the crewmen cut down the Oscar’s mast  
to use it as a bridge to the shore, but it fell the wrong way, killing those 
who had been clinging to its rigging. Relatives gathered on the shore, 
helpless in their efforts to save friends and family. Instead they were 
forced to watch as the crew, including the Oscar’s Captain, John Innes, 
were overcome by the heavy seas.

Amazingly, two men out of the crew of 45, John Jameson and James 
Venus, did survive. For the relatives of the other crew members, 

the following days were spent visiting the beach as the bodies of their 
loved ones were washed ashore. 

The effect of the loss upon the city was dramatic. The local community 
raised £12,000 (approximately £180,000 today) to support the bereaved 
families. The name Oscar is remembered in place names such as Oscar 
Road in Torry. 

The loss of the whaleship ‘Oscar’ became a story handed down 
through the years. So much so that 75 years after the tragedy it 
inspired the famous poet, William Topaz McGonagall (1825 –1902)  
to compose The Wreck of the Whaler ‘Oscar’. 

McGonagall has been widely described as the worst poet in British history. 
Although he wrote around 200 poems, including his now famous, 
The Tay Bridge Disaster, and was in popular demand to make recitations 
throughout Scotland, it is suggested that his work was considered almost 
comic, and that his inability to scan, his ill-advised imagery and his 
‘deafness to poetic metaphor’ made his work unintentionally amusing.

McGonagall, however, either chose to defiantly ignore his critics, 
or remained ignorant of their views. It has to be said, collections 
of his work remain popular, and in print, to this very day.

The Wreck of the Whaler ‘Oscar’ (composed April 1888).

To read the full poem, please view our website at  
www.aberdeen-harbour.co.uk.

The Oscar Tragedy  

Inspired Poem by William McGonagall

Drawing of the Oscar shipwreck, courtesy of www.aberdeencity.gov.uk



Alistair Mackenzie, Chairman of Aberdeen 
Harbour Board and current Chairman of the 
Northern Lighthouse Board, talks about 
the designer of the Girdleness Lighthouse, 
the now-celebrated Robert Stevenson. 

Q: Before Robert Stevenson came on the   
 scene, what existed in terms of shore   
 hazard warning lights for shipping around  
 Scotland’s coasts?

A:  Lighthouses in the late 1700s were basic,   
 illuminated by coal fires, providing limited   
 warning to vessels nearing the shore. 
 Vessels also lacked the sophisticated location  
 positioning equipment they have today, 
 so the death toll through vessels running   
 aground was extremely high.

Q:  What was Stevenson’s first achievement?

A:  Stevenson’s earliest achievement was one of  
 his greatest. At just 38 years old he became   
 Resident Engineer on the building of a   
 lighthouse on the Bell Rock – a semi-submerged  
 reef 11½ miles off the east coast of Scotland.  
 This construction project, completed under   
 the most extreme conditions, at a time of   
 rudimentary construction techniques, has   
 been described as Scotland’s greatest single   
 engineering feat of the early 19th century. 

Q: Alistair, what made Robert Stevenson’s   
 work so remarkable?

A:  Although it was John Smeaton (one of the   
 designers of Aberdeen Harbour’s peninsula   
 model) who actually pioneered building stone  
 tower lighthouses, Robert Stevenson took   
 this concept to a new level during his career,   
 inaugurating the modern lighthouse service in  
 Scotland. He designed and built 20 lighthouses,  
 including Girdleness, all of which are still in   
 service today, two hundred years later. 

 Robert Stevenson’s talented family included   
 the famous writer Robert Louis Stevenson   
 (his grandson). Visits with his family to remote  
 lighthouses are thought to have inspired his   
 books ‘Kidnapped’ and ‘Treasure Island’.

ROBERT STEVENSON

Prior to the loss of the Oscar, there already existed growing alarm at the number of 
sailors being lost at sea due to groundings on the Scottish coastline. The loss of the Oscar, 
which is still one of the greatest losses at sea in Scottish Maritime history, led to an 
even greater groundswell of opinion, and reinforced calls for a lighthouse at Girdleness. 
Finally heeded some twenty years later, the Girdleness lighthouse, designed by Robert 
Stevenson, was constructed by James Gibbs.

Construction of the 
Girdleness Lighthouse

The Girdleness lighthouse was of a state-of-the-art, 
ground-breaking design, incorporating a double 
light, one above the other, in a tower that rose an 
incredible 121ft above the ground. The Astronomer 
Royal, Sir George Airy, described the lighthouse in 
1847: “fronted to seaward with weather-resisting 
glass a quarter of an inch thick and gun metal 

astragals. The dome of the lighthouse looks 
immense from inside, whereas from the ground 
some 136 feet below, it looks minute. The lamp is 
framed by two large concave reflectors, which sent 
its 200,000 candlepower beams 25 miles out to sea 
on a good night”. Sir George added that Girdleness 
was “the best lighthouse that I have seen”.

GIRDLENESS 
FACT FILE

TOWER HEIGHT:

121ft / 183ft above sea level.

CONSTRUCTED:

1833.

COMMISSIONED BY:

Commissioners of the Northern Lights.

DESIGNED BY:

Robert Stevenson (1772 – 1850),  
assisted by son Alan (1807 – 1865) 
(Resident Engineer).

BUILDER: 

James Gibb of Aberdeen.

SOURCE OF POWER:

Originally vegetable oil, later paraffin, later 
electricity. The light was automated in 1991.

DESIGN:

Originally two lights – upper light in dome and 
second light lower down nearer base. Unique 
design. Upper light replaced in 1847. Lower 
light then removed in 1890 and upper light 
replaced by brighter optical system which was 
rotated by clockwork motor. Foghorn added in 
1880s powered by compressed air.

FOG HORN:

Was operated when visibility was less than 
five miles. Discontinued in 1987, but iron 
structure remains in place and is now owned 
and safeguarded by Aberdeen Harbour Board.

CHARACTER OF LIGHT:

Flashing (2) White every 20 seconds.

POSITION:

Latitude 57° 08.339’N, Longitude 002° 
02.916’W.

RANGE: 

22 nautical miles.

HISTORY: 

Lighthouse was damaged when a mine drifted 
ashore and exploded in 1944.

SECONDARY FUNCTION:

Since 1998, Girdleness has been one of three 
lighthouses in Scotland that act as reference 
stations working in conjunction with Global 
Positioning System (GPS) satellites to enhance 
navigation, the others being Butt of Lewis 
Lighthouse and Sumburgh Head Lighthouse.
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2015: STEADY OPERATIONS
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DESPITE THE BACKDROP OF 

A LOWER OIL PRICE, ACTIVITY 

IN THE HARBOUR REMAINED 

RELATIVELY STABLE IN 2015, 

WITH MORE THAN 7,400 VESSEL 

ARRIVALS, IN EXCESS OF 

4.2 MILLION TONNES OF 

CARGO, 27.5 MILLION VESSEL 

TONNES AND OVER 158,000 

PASSENGERS VISITING THE 

PORT DURING THIS PERIOD. 

A cautious view of this apparent 
resilience, in the face of the 
economic challenges facing the 
region, is that the port has 
benefited from a number of large 
oil and gas projects that were 
commissioned prior to the drop  
in oil price. Looking at the 2015 
activity in detail, there are 
perhaps other factors at play 
which have also helped to 
mitigate the effect of the current 
downturn to some extent. 

A major factor, and one that has 
been underpinning the activity 

increases in the port for many 
years now, is that vessels are 
getting larger – and this is the 
case across a whole range of 
market sectors. General 
commercial cargo vessels, supply 
vessels and subsea support 
vessels are all getting larger – 
and this trend helps to bolster the 
shipping tonnage activity in the 
port, and indeed, is one of the 
factors supporting the need for 
harbour expansion. 

The harbour also enjoys a mixed 
portfolio of activity. So, despite 

53% of the port’s income being 
derived from UKCS-related 
activity, 26.5% of its income 
comes from general cargoes and 
commercial shipping. Commodities 
shipped to and from the port are 
many: road salt, salmon feed, 
refined oil products and scrap 
metal are just some of these.  
A bumper year in activity for one 
of these commodities, can help 
offset some of the impact of a  
fall in oil and gas activity. A great 
example of this in the last two 
years has been grain. 
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From a figure of 15,600 tonnes 
of grain shipped in 2013, the 
harbour shipped an average of 
around 70,000 tonnes per annum 
in 2014 and 2015. 

Freight to the Northern Isles 
also increased in 2015 (an increase 
of 1.2% on 2014), whilst cruise 
ship activity increased from  
eight cruise ship visits in 2014, 
to 11 in 2015. Furthermore, 
bookings for 2016 indicate that 
we are to experience a 118% 
increase in this kind of activity, 
with 25 cruise visits scheduled.

The port’s international reach is 
also a significant factor in its 
success. Aberdeen Harbour 
traded directly with 39 different 
countries in 2015, with new 
routes being established in 2015 
to both Libya and Indonesia.

It is vital that the Harbour 
continues to evolve in order 
to retain the flexibility to 
accommodate an even wider 
range of business streams and 
opportunities. Diversity is key 
to future success, both for the 
harbour and the region.



Decommissioning at Aberdeen Harbour

It could be said, however, that Aberdeen Harbour’s support for 
‘piece-small’ decommissioning activity went unrecognised, even by 
the Harbour Board itself, until recently, as the removal of decommissioned 
pieces of equipment was just classified as ‘scrap’ removal. 

With the looming prospect of the systematic decommissioning of fields 
across the North Sea, however, focus has changed, as have the 
facilities that Aberdeen Harbour provides for this sector.

In accordance with the needs of the industry, the port now provides 
modern quaysides with triple interceptors, expansive lay-down 
areas and, since the £5 million investment into the widening and 
deepening of the navigation channel, completed in 2012, the capacity  
to accommodate larger vessels, requiring a deeper draft. 

Aberdeen Harbour is also home to a wide range of specialist, 
certified vendors and service companies, with the expertise to 
manage onshore disposal processes. 

Any decommissioning strategy should also consider Aberdeen 
Harbour’s international reach. In 2015 the harbour had direct 
trading links with 39 different countries around the world. 
A ‘ship-in-ship-out’ approach for disposal of decommissioned 
material, whereby shipments from offshore are brought 
to Aberdeen, but then ‘shipped out’ again to a UK or international 
location for disposal, not only avoids the environmental 
impact of road transportation, but may also prove a highly 
cost-effective strategy.

Many regard the decommissioning of North Sea assets as a brand new activity stream, 
yet Aberdeen Harbour has treated it as a core activity for several years now.

FACILITIES & INFRASTRUCTURE

>  24/7 Operation

>  OHSAS 18001 & ISO 14001   
 International Standards

>  Rail Connected

>  Trunk Road Connectivity

>  Port Marine Safety Code Complaint

>  Fully Serviced Berths

>  Heavy Lift Quayside Capabilities

>  Project Areas – Triple Interceptors

>  Specialised Vendors

www.aberdeen-harbour.co.uk

SPEAK TO ABERDEEN  
HARBOUR ABOUT  
PIECE SMALL-TO-MEDIUM 
DECOMMISSIONING. 

THEY SAY BREAKING UP 
IS HARD TO DO. 
WE DISAGREE.

Triple Interceptor 
Quays, allowing 

resizing 
operations

Heavy Lift Quayside  
and Cranes

Fully Serviced  
Berths

Supply Chain 
Services:

Ability to import, 
process/fragment  
locally and export  

by sea

Handle all  
‘Piece-Small/

Medium’ 
Decommissioning

– Metal disposal 
vendors

– Waste disposal 
vendors

– NORM management 
contractors

ONE-STOP-SHOP



GOING WITH 
THE GRAIN
High activity in this sector has 

continued in 2015 with the largest 

single export of grain to leave 

Aberdeen Harbour bound for Libya 

on the MV Selamet.

The 16,500 tonne cargo, managed by 

Openfield, the largest farmer-owned grain 

co-operative in the UK, was to be used as 

animal feed. The port’s previous record 

was set back in 1991, at 12,500 tonnes.

LIST OF COMMODITIES

ROAD SALT • SALMON FEED 

TIMBER • CALCIUM CARBONATE 

SLURRY • TUBULARS • SUBSEA 

EQUIPMENT • SCRAP METAL 

GRAIN • BARITES • BENTONITE 

REFINED OIL PRODUCTS 

FRESH SALMON • LIVESTOCK 

WIND FARM COMPONENTS 

FOOD PRODUCTS

Average vessel size across the years

During 2015, the following AHB 
staff gained additional 
qualifications:

ALEXANDRA THOMPSON 
MCINTOSH VTS Officer

>  Certification as VTS Supervisor

>  Diploma in Port Management

KEITH FULLER Pilot
ANTHONY VAN DAMME Pilot

>  Diploma for Harbour Masters  
 with Distinction

ALEX REID, GORDON DALGARNO, 
GEORGE ROSS, GEORGE STEPHEN, 
ALAN STUART, COLIN McCOMBIE, 
GRAEME WESTLAND AND  
RORY FORBES

>  RYA Advanced Powerboat  
 Certificate

YEARS

156,243 
PASSENGERS

51,955 
VEHICLES

60,604 
CABINS USED

112,539 
SHEEP TRANSPORTED 

48,744 TONNES 
SALMON 
TRANSPORTED

497,832 
VEHICLE LANE 
METRES USED

SHETLAND & ORKNEY 
CONNECTIONS 

ABERDEEN HARBOUR PROVIDES A VITAL TRANSPORT LINK 
TO THE NORTHERN ISLES OF ORKNEY AND SHETLAND
Two companies, Serco Northlink and Streamline, operate scheduled services on these 
routes, ensuring the islands receive the essential freight and passengers services 
required to support and supply local communities. This also supports the continued 
growth of tourism to the islands.

Gateway to the North
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The Hidden Story

Engineering a solution

ALONG WITH AIDING THE SAFE NAVIGATION OF VESSELS INTO THE SHELTER 

OF THE HARBOUR, THE OTHER FUNDAMENTAL ROLE OF ABERDEEN HARBOUR 

BOARD IS TO MAINTAIN AND IMPROVE THE PHYSICAL AND STRUCTURAL 

ELEMENTS FROM WHICH THE HARBOUR IS FORMED.

This involves the maintenance of over six kilometres of quayside, the upkeep of 

harbour buildings and, most importantly, ensuring the water depth of the port 

is maintained. To achieve this an annual operational dredging programme takes 

place, without which the port would eventually silt up, limiting the size of vessel 

that could visit Aberdeen. 

The Engineering Department has also undertaken a significant series of structural improvements 

to the port, including the widening and deepening of the navigation channel, and the infill of the 

old Torry Dock, replacing it with 400 metres of state-of-the-art quayside. In recent years, this kind 

of investment in port facilities adds to more than £200 million in the last 20 years, and this work 

has all been managed from within the Harbour’s Engineering Team.

Much of the damage caused by Storm Frank, which hit the North East of Scotland  

on 30th December 2015, was well publicised in the press. What has been less visible, 

however, was the damage, caused by the storm, to Aberdeen Harbour.

The result of approximately 28,000 cubic metres of material being 
washed down river and deposited on the harbour floor was that 
water depth was reduced in certain areas. The more unusual 
impact, however, of this material movement was the ‘scouring 
effect’ it had on other areas of the harbour floor – where depth 
actually increased, in some areas by an additional five metres.

Fortunately, all of this damage was confined to the west of 
the navigation channel and away from the main areas of 

vessel activity. The overall damage is also minimal considering 
the exceptional weather conditions experienced, and the 
harbour infrastructure generally weathered the storm well. 
The work to address the damage included the removal of 
deposited material through dredging, whilst circa 11,000 tonnes 
of fill material was also imported to level the under-depth 
areas, resulting in the harbour floor being returned to its 
normal levels.
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ENERGY USAGE

KEY FACTS 2015 ACCIDENTS42015 2015 REPORTABLE 
INCIDENTS3

3 POLLUTION
INCIDENTS

(equipment failure)

2 POLLUTION
INCIDENTS

(minor spills)
3 NEAR MISS
INCIDENTS

(inappropriate
disposal
of waste)

ENVIRONMENTAL INCIDENTS 2015

18
SAFETY CONCERNS

5
NEAR MISSES

4
ACCIDENTS

3
REPORTABLE

INCIDENTS

0
FATALITIES

20152015 >  Defibrillators introduced to key locations and 
 all staff undergoing training
>  Investment in HSE Compliance Software

Electricity Usage

Marine 
Operations Centre

Maintenance 
Department

Head Office

7%

 

24%

33%
43%

93%

38%

41%

21%

Gas Usage

7%

 

24%

33%
43%

93%

38%

41%

21%

Diesel

7%

 

24%

33%
43%

93%

38%

41%

21%

Marine 
Operations Centre

Maintenance 
Department

Head Office

Total: 760,968 kWh
UP 2.8% FROM 2014

Total: 122,649 ltr 
DOWN 13% FROM 2014

Total: 447,304 kWh
UP 4% FROM 2014

Aberdeen Harbour Board is committed to marine safety and to full compliance with the UK Port Marine Safety Code, and recognises its individual and collective 
responsibility as Duty Holders. Aberdeen Harbour Board’s independent Designated Person has presented the Board with audit reports of the Harbour’s Marine 
Safety Management System throughout the year, and a summary of incident reports is available on the Aberdeen Harbour and Marine Safety Forum websites.

ABERDEEN 
HARBOUR BOARD 

ADVERSE EVENTS 2015
TOTAL 
NUMBER OF 
ENVIRONMENTAL 
INCIDENTS 

08

HS&E 
INSPECTIONS

12
EXTERNAL 
CERTIFICATION AUDITS
(carried out by LRQA)

02
HS&E TOURS
(carried out by senior 
management team)

27

INTERNAL 
AUDITS

11

Vessels

Vehicles



Safety: The Key Component
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The addition of a Compliance Manager to the Aberdeen Harbour Board Safety Team 
underpinned what had already been a very busy year for the department. Malcolm Brown 
helped us look back on the Department’s activity in the port during the year, picking out 
some of the important events and reporting back on the organisation’s safety performance.

2015 saw the Department 
consolidate its success in 
achieving ISO 14001 and 
8001 certification in late 
2014, by gaining a clean 
bill of health from the 
follow-up surveillance 
audits, which took place 
in early December 2015. 
Malcolm explained,  
“We are delighted that 
what was put in place in 
2014 has proved not only 
to be robust, but has been 
built upon, bolstering our 
efforts to ensure safe 
Aberdeen Harbour Board 
operations. It is a credit to 
the harbour staff that this 
has been achieved”.

Malcolm also reported that the 
department had been busy 
improving the monitoring and 
management of the port’s safety 
and environmental performance, 
with the introduction of a new 
safety management software 

tool. “The transition over to the 
new system has gone smoothly” 
explained Malcolm, “and it has 
taken us less than eight weeks to 
bed the system in. The result is 
that safety reporting has been 
simplified and the process made 
much more user-friendly. We 
hope that this further encourages 
quality reporting by all staff”.

Compared with 2014, however, 
2015 saw an increase in 
reportable incidents, rising from 
one to three. Of these three 
incidents, two involved members 
of the public, and both of these 
involved slips, trips and falls.  
“The harbour is clearly an 
operational port, and we therefore 
have to allow a degree of access 
for port users working there – it is 
for this reason that we cannot 
seal the port off completely”, 
explained Malcolm, “but we also 
have to ensure that the harbour is 
as safe an environment as 
possible for the public accessing it, 

and we are therefore conducting 
a review of access within the port 
on this basis”. On the positive 
side, environmental incidents in 
the port dropped from 14, in 
2014, to eight in 2015. Within 
these figures, incidents of minor 
pollution spills dropped from six 
to just two, and incidents of 
pollution due to equipment failure 

(usually caused by a pump or 
hose failure) dropped from four to 
three. Incidents of inappropriate 
waste disposal rose from one to 
three in 2015, but it is believed 
that this increase is due to better 
monitoring, and therefore to 
better preventative measures 
being applied.

MALCOLM BROWN Compliance Manager

Malcolm Brown joined Aberdeen Harbour Board in November 2015, in the new role of 
Compliance Manager. In this role Malcolm is responsible for ensuring safe and secure 
operations of the port and in applying a robust environmental management system. 
He has more than 20 years of experience in operational management, including senior 
roles within aviation and retail sectors.

Prior to assuming his current role, Malcolm was Security Operations Manager at Aberdeen  
International Airport, where he was responsible for maintaining a compliant operation and 
leading a team of more than 100 personnel.

Malcolm also served as Operations Manager at the Union Square shopping centre, managing 
Mechanical & Electrical, Security and Cleaning Services.

He holds an Honours Degree in Business Management from The Robert Gordon University.



When launching its first harbour-wide 
safety campaign, aimed at addressing this 
issue, no-one anticipated one of the harbour 
operatives being made a local celebrity as 
one of the outcomes. 

Sea-Cargo Terminal Foreman, Graham Lamb 
has been enjoying the limelight as the star 
of the new campaign posters. The campaign, 
which focusses on the way in which safe 
driving, and compliance to the 15 mph 
restrictions within the port helps to promote 
safe simultaneous operations, has featured 
locations and personnel from the port itself, 
with Graham’s picture taking pride of place 
on billboard posters on two warehouse 
buildings within the harbour estate.

“I am enjoying my new-found fame”, said 
Graham, “As you can imagine, this is causing 
some real banter with my colleagues, which 
is all good fun, but there’s a very serious reason 
for the campaign. If it helps keep my fellow 
workers safe, I am happy to play my part”.

The Port Safety Group is made up of a wide 
range of port users, including Aberdeen 
Harbour Board, oil majors, port agents and 
commercial shipping companies, such as 
Sea-Cargo. 

If you would like to join the Port Safety 
Group, please contact Aberdeen 
Harbour’s Health and Safety Advisor 
by calling 01224 597000, or emailing  
safety@aberdeen-harbour.co.uk.

One of the primary areas of focus for The Aberdeen Port Safety Group has been the 
wide number of operations that can be taking place within the Harbour at any one time, 
and the need to ensure that these operations can occur simultaneously without safety 
being compromised.

Aberdeen Port 
Safety Group

Aberdeen Port 
Safety Group

Aberdeen Port 
Safety Group

Aberdeen Port 
Safety GroupStar of the Safety Show

Harbour Speed Limit: 15 mph

Average speed in harbour: 18 mph

Highest speed recorded: 49 mph

36% of vehicles exceed 20 mph

SPEED STATISTICS



Defibrillator
Initiative

HARBOUR DEFIBRILLATOR LOCATIONS 

The location of the defibrillators identified to date are:

AHB  MARINE OPERATING CENTRE:   
 fifth floor stairwell landing

AHB  16 REGENT QUAY: reception area

AHB  DOCK GATES BUILDING: upstairs kitchen

AHB  MAINTENANCE WORKSHOPS:  
 first aid treatment room

AHB  MOBILE UNIT: dayshift (06:00 – 22:00)   
 located DCO vehicle

AHB  MOBILE UNIT: nightshift (22:00 – 06:00)   
 located DCA vehicle

ASCO  TORRY MARINE BASE: 
 upstairs general office

ASCO  MEARNS QUAY: upstairs office, far end

ASCO  BP ALBERT QUAY: 
 upstairs, main operations office

ASCO  TOTAL ALBERT QUAY: 
 quayside office, kitchen area

PETERSON  WATERLOO QUAY: Seabase Facility

PETERSON  POCRA QUAY: Base

Inspired by the statistic that when CPR chest 
compressions and a defibrillator are used together 
the chances of survival from Sudden Cardiac 
Arrest increase from 9% to 50%, the Aberdeen 
Port Safety Group decided to act, and recently 
began to collate information, including the location 
of every defibrillator available in the port.

Once complete this information will be used to 
create a ‘defibrillator map’, which will clearly identify 
the location of every defibrillator unit in the port, 
and make this information easily accessible to all 
port users.



Expansion: a vital step

The study, to investigate the feasibility of 
developing additional deepwater facilities 
to the south of the existing harbour, has been 
underway for almost three years, but it is 
within the last year that real headway has 
been made, with some significant project 
milestones reached. 

The completion of an 18-month-long 
Environmental Impact Assessment took 
place in September, the scope of which was 
defined with the support of Aberdeen City 
Council, Scottish Natural Heritage and the 
Scottish Environment Protection Agency, 
amongst others. One of the broadest scopes 
for a study of this kind in recent years,  
the range of reports that formed the 

assessment included areas as diverse as 
socio-economics; ecology and protected 
species; air quality and transport.

The resulting Environmental Statement,  
which identified the potential for proposed 
mitigation measures designed to eliminate,  
or at least minimise, the potential for 
environmental impacts, accompanied each of 
the applications for planning permission then 
issued. These applications: a Harbour Revision 
Order, Marine Licences and Planning 
Permission in Principle submission were 
issued in early December 2015 and formed 
the three key elements of the project’s 
planning consent strategy, representing a 
second important milestone for the project. 

In response to these applications, a very low 
number of representations were made by 
statutory bodies and private individuals, 
reflecting the wide support that the project 
has enjoyed since initial plans were revealed.  
The extensive range of community, industry 
and customer engagement events undertaken 
by the Board throughout the last three years, 
and prior to the submission of these 
applications, had all indicated that widespread 
backing for the proposed project existed.  
The cross-party political support received  
since the start of the project also compounded 
this belief.

It is a testimony to the sheer volume of detailed work carried out during the last twelve months that the 
Aberdeen Harbour Board’s major expansion feasibility study has reached the point of maturity where a 
final decision may be made by the Board later this year. 
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WHAT WILL 
EXPANSION PROVIDE?
> OVER 1,400M QUAY LENGTH

> DEEPWATER BERTHING

> WIDE ENTRANCE

> WIDE TURNING AREA

> 125,000M LAYDOWN AREA

> HEAVY LIFT CAPABILITIES

> FULLY SERVICED BERTHS

CONSENTING STRATEGY:
A series of linked consents are required 

to facilitate construction of the Aberdeen 

Harbour Expansion Project:

> PLANNING PERMISSION (PPP) 

> HARBOUR REVISION ORDER (HRO)

> MARINE LICENCE (ML)

PPP
planning permission
in principle

HRO
harbour
revision order

ML
marine licence

EIA
Environmental
Impact 
Assessment
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Discussions with the European Investment 
Bank (EIB) and other commercial banks about 
borrowings have also progressed successfully, 
whilst talks about grant funding with both the 
UK and Scottish Governments, through 
organisations such as Scottish Futures and 
Scottish Enterprise, are also underway. 

The aim of such funding is to reduce the 
impact of our charges on our customers in this 
difficult economic climate. It is generally 
recognised that the development would create 
significant savings and efficiencies for our 
customers by providing deepwater facilities in 
a location which is adjacent to the existing and 
well-established supply chain, and centres of 
excellence. Ultimately, however, the Business 
Case will not be complete until we establish 
the true cost of the development, which will 
be realised once the tender process comes to 
fruition over the summer.

GROWING AND ATTRACTING BUSINESS 

In ensuring that the development’s economic 
potential for the Region is fully maximised,  
we believe that timing is everything. As many 
people are aware, most estimates regarding 
the value of future activity in the North Sea oil 
and gas decommissioning sector is around  
£50 billion, and many recent indicators 
suggest that this activity may ramp up much 

faster than previously expected, due to the 
downturn in oil price. 

The need for the North East to seize this 
window of opportunity is clear. The current 
harbour already supports decommissioning 
activity, but the deepwater quays provided by 
the development would complement the 
capabilities and established suite of service 
providers that are already in place. It would 
allow the port to further support the needs of 
this industry, as they are defined. 
Decommissioning represents a lifetime’s 
worth of activity, extending oil and gas activity 
and anchoring jobs for the city and the region 
for decades to come.

The Board, however, sees decommissioning  
as only one element of the growing demand  
for deepwater berthage in the North East. 
Average vessel sizes have increased by an 
incredible 150% over the last 25 years – and 
this has not been specific to any one vessel 
type or industry. Energy sector and general 
cargo vessels have all increased in size, and 
additional deepwater berthage is essential  
to allow the region to benefit from the 
diversification of activity that greater capacity 
would allow. 

Cruise ships have also dramatically increased 
in size and this has mirrored the industry’s 

incredible growth. Global annual passenger 
numbers exceeded a staggering 22 million in 
2014, whilst Scotland has benefited hugely 
from this growth with a 60% increase in 
passenger numbers in the last five years.

Nearly 290 thousand cruise ship passengers 
visited East Coast ports in 2015. The area is 
seen as a very safe destination, in global 
terms, with attractions such as castles, 
distilleries, and famous golf courses. Due to 
the deepwater berthage and manoeuvring 
space required by these vessels, however, 
Aberdeen is only able to receive the smaller 
specialist vessels, and so literally, this is a 
market that is sailing past us every day. 
Additional facilities would allow vessels of  
up to 300 metres in length to visit Aberdeen, 
injecting significant sums into the local and 
regional economy. 

It is this kind of diversification that Aberdeen 
needs to attract if it is to remain commercially 
vibrant for future generations. This makes the 
need for a nationally significant development  
all the more pressing. Each small step taken  
by the project team, therefore, is as important 
as the next in potentially moving this project 
towards becoming a reality.

Critical to the final approvals for the project is its financial viability. The Board has been 
able to accumulate substantial reserves over recent years as a result of its Trust Port status, 
which can now be made available to support the project. 

FUNDING 
THE FUTURE



ALBERT BASIN

WHAT
NEXT

2016: Planning Consent Process, Final Board Approval, Award of Contracts
2017: Potential Construction Start Date
2019: First Quayside Operational
2020: Construction Completed

GIVEN ALL OF THIS ACTIVITY, 
WHAT ARE THE UPCOMING 
POTENTIAL MILESTONES FOR THE 
NIGG BAY EXPANSION PLAN??

PLANS FOR THE ADDITIONAL HARBOUR FACILITIES 

CAME TO LIFE IN JUNE 2015 WHEN MEMBERS OF THE 

BOARD VISITED HR WALLINGFORD, EXPERTS IN CIVIL 

ENGINEERING AND ENVIRONMENTAL HYDRAULICS,  

AT THEIR RESEARCH FACILITY IN OXFORDSHIRE. 

The Board was able to view the 1/60th (3D physical) model  

of the potential project they had commissioned HR Wallingford  

to construct. Involving over 90 data points, and 17 kilometres  

of cabling, the model was developed to allow, in conjunction  

with complementary 2D modelling, a series of hydraulic physical 

tests. These tests were carried out to verify the performance  

of the harbour’s breakwaters and quays under a range of wave 

conditions. The work has since proved to be an integral element  

of the design refinement process, ultimately ensuring the new 

facilities are operationally efficient. 

 

Modelling the Future

Prime time for project
The Aberdeen Harbour Expansion Project has attracted 
cross-party political support since its inception, including 
support from both parliaments. A recent visit by Prime 
Minister, the Rt. Hon. David Cameron MP included a 
discussion on the national significance of the project.

Aberdeen Harbour expansion discussions with the Prime Minister,  
the Rt. Hon. David Cameron, MP.
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STAKEHOLDER SUPPORT

WALKER ROAD 
PRIMARY SCHOOL

Fund the publication of a Leavers’  
Book designed by pupils.

 

Aberdeen Seafarers Centre
Centre provides support to seafarers, including counselling, 
SKYPE facilities and ship visits.
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BEFRIEND A CHILD
Help fund activity costs, play leader  

salaries, play equipment and lunches, as  
well as transport costs for the charity’s 
school summer holiday playscheme.

CLAN
Funding for CLAN Haven 

accommodation for patients 
and relatives.

RSPB DOLPHINWATCH
Funding for a third summer  

presence at the Torry Battery by 
RSPB personnel and volunteers.

ALZHEIMER 
SCOTLAND ABERDEEN
Funding towards dementia- 
friendly equipment for new 

Alzheimer’s Resource Centre.

DEE CATCHMENT 
PARTNERSHIP

Manufacture of a 3D River Dee 
catchment flooding model. 

COMMUNITY
ACTION FUND Kids at Ferryhill

Funded the purchase 
of new hygienic and 

safe play mats.

ALTENS & COVE 
COMMUNITY 
ASSOCIATION
New toddlers’ play park and  
the refurbishment of the main 
centre meeting room. Fishies’ 
Playground opened in July 2015.

LOIRSTON ANNEXE COMMUNITY CENTRE
Replacement of damaged flooring, replacement of ceiling tiles 

and the provision of toy storage.

ARCHIE FOUNDATION
Refurbishment of one hospital 

room per year for three years at 
the Royal Children’s Hospital, 

including new furniture, brightly 
painted walls and mural of 

sponsor’s choice.

TECHFEST
Funded workshop to run the full 
week of the Techfest event.

FOOTDEE PLAY 
PARK CHARITY

New park Information Board.

SHOP MOBILITY
Partially funded core costs for 

the organisation, including  
staffing, administration,  

equipment and transport.

COMMUNITY FOOD 
INITIATIVES 

NORTH EAST 
Partially funded transport 

operations.

FRIENDS OF 
SEATON PARK

The refurbishment of old 
harbour steam train in 
children’s play area.

ABERDEEN KAYAK CLUB
A new river jetty and disabled 
access hoist at Seaton Park.

GRAMPIAN AUTISTIC 
SOCIETY

Funding to help support people 
with autism gain and 

maintain employment.

SPORT ABERDEEN
Help fund guided health 

walks across the city.

OLD TORRY COMMUNITY CENTRE
Funded Easter playscheme and ‘seated’ exercise class to enable 

people who cannot do exercise that involves standing.
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Applications for sponsorship can be made via the Aberdeen Harbour Board website www.aberdeen-harbour.co.uk

Inchgarth Community Centre
Funded pre-school play sessions and IT classes for 
older people.

TORRY DEVELOPMENT TRUST
Various Community Improvement Initiatives, including 

a community / heritage project to build a ‘yawl’ kit boat.

BIG NOISE TORRY (Sistema Scotland)

Aberdeen Harbour’s biggest funding award for 2015, Big Noise, 
Torry, is an early intervention programme aimed at raising the 
aspirational expectations of children living in the area through the 
teaching of musical skills in an orchestral environment. 

The charity held its first Torry public concert in June 2015, and Aberdeen Harbour 
staff were amongst the volunteers that helped erect the marquee and security 
fencing ahead of the performance.

Photos: Marc Marnie

ROYAL 
DEESIDE 
RAILWAY
Kids from  
‘Befriend a Child’ 
and ‘Kids at 
Ferryhill’ enjoy 
a Christmas train 
journey, courtesy 
of Royal Deeside 
Railway and 
Aberdeen Harbour.
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STRATEGIC REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

The Board presents the Strategic Report for the year ended 31 December 2015.

REVIEW OF THE BUSINESS

Review of the business for the year can be found in the Chairman’s Statement.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Board considers that it operates in an area where there will be ongoing demand for its services. The Board has a strong record of investing in modern facilities, 
plant and equipment and this together with increased training for our employees will enable us to meet the challenges of the future in offering our port customers a 
quality cost-effective service. The Board is currently working to address certain business risks regarding capacity constraints by reviewing the future development  
of the harbour.

The harbour’s business has a wide spread of customers and commodities and is able to adapt to market changes.

The financial risks are limited to the normal commercial risks associated with running a business. We have no currency exposure.

The Board operates a defined benefit pension scheme and also employs two marine pilots who are members of the Pilots’ National Pension Fund. These arrangements 
are more fully explained in Note 20 to the financial statements.

In the harbour’s business, the Board has statutory responsibility for operations in our areas of jurisdiction.

Any significant risk from any of the above risk categories would be debated by the Board and an agreed procedure of handling that risk, mitigating it as far as practical, 
would be delegated to the relevant executive board members as appropriate.

The Board has compiled a Risk Register which is reviewed in full by the Audit Committee with the highest risks reviewed by the Board on a six monthly basis.

DEVELOPMENT AND PERFORMANCE

Financial results

Turnover for the year amounted to £31.73 million, an increase of 9.65% compared to 2014. An operating profit of £13.86 million was earned in 2015 compared to an 
operating profit of £11.20 million in 2014, the increase due in the main to the upturn in the turnover in the current year.

The profit for the year after taxation amounted to £14.31 million. As a Trust Port the business retains all profits for reinvestment in harbour developments that will 
benefit the harbour’s stakeholders.

Key performance indicators

The annual budget agreed by the Board is the basis for measuring the performance of the business throughout the year. In addition, this drives financial and non-
financial targets for the senior management team. As part of the budgeting process the Board considers the financial projections for a five-year time horizon with the 
strategic aim of the business to provide state-of-the-art facilities for its customers and to leave the business in a better condition than when they took office.

The KPIs, which are used to measure these aspects, include:

> Quayside utilisation 
> Vessel movements/Pilotage acts 
> Income per tonne – vessels 
> Income per tonne – goods 
> Debtor days 
> EBITDA – actual versus budget 
> Rental property occupied

By including EBITDA as a KPI the business aims to monitor the profitability of the business in order that the business generates the necessary funds to reinvest in the 
port infrastructure to ensure appropriate and relevant facilities can be provided for our customers.

Future developments

The business’s plans for the future are focussed on establishing the deliverability of the proposed Aberdeen Harbour Expansion Plan, which would provide capacity for 
larger vessels with 1,400 metres of deepwater berths supported by 125,000 square metres of laydown area.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD:

C Parker
Chief Executive
29 March 2016
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REPORT OF THE BOARD
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

The Board presents its report with the Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2015.

Administration, maintenance and improvement of the harbour is entrusted to Aberdeen Harbour Board, an independent statutory body formed under the terms of the 

Aberdeen Harbour Order Confirmation Act 1960. Certain modifications to this constitution were embodied in the Aberdeen Harbour Order Confirmation Act 1987 and the 

Aberdeen Harbour Revision (Constitution) Order 2002.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Board are the operation and maintenance of the harbour facilities and the provision of services ancillary thereto.

REVIEW OF BUSINESS

Review of business for the year can be found in the Chairman’s Statement.

BOARD MEMBERS

The board members have held office during the whole of the period from 1 January 2015 to the date of this report.

Chairman

A Y MacKenzie (Re-appointed 14 December 2015)

Vice-Chairman

H D Woodcock (Re-appointed 14 December 2015)

Members

C Bain

J Bell

F A W Bowden

M L Bowyer (Re-appointed 30 November 2015)

M D Laing

M McNeill (Re-appointed 30 November 2015)

G Massie

C Parker

M A Porter

A J Strachan (Re-appointed 30 November 2015)

Principal Officers

C Parker Chief Executive

J Bell Finance Director

Captain JR Shaw Operations Director & Harbour Master

K D Young Engineering Director

C Bain External Relations Director

M J North Commercial Director

BOARD SECRETARY:

Mackinnons Solicitors

SUPPLIER PAYMENT POLICY:

It is the policy of the Board to pay all verified accounts within agreed settlement terms.

AUDITORS:

The auditors, Johnston Carmichael LLP, will be deemed re-appointed under S487 of the Companies Act 2006.

Aberdeen Harbour Board Annual Review 2015/2016   35



36   Aberdeen Harbour Board Annual Review 2015/16

REPORT OF THE BOARD
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

STATEMENT OF DISCLOSURE TO AUDITORS

So far as the members are aware, there is no relevant audit information (as defined by Section 418 of the Companies Act 2006) of which the Board’s auditors are 

unaware, and each member has taken all the steps that he or she ought to have taken as a member in order to make himself or herself aware of any relevant audit 

information and to establish that the Board’s auditors are aware of that information.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Mackinnons Solicitors

Board Secretary

29 March 2016

The Board is responsible for preparing the Strategic Report, Report of the Board and The Financial Statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Legislation requires the Board to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law, the Board has elected to prepare the financial statements in 

accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable law). Under company law the Board 

must not approve the financial statements unless it is satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Board, and of the profit or loss of the 

Board for that period. In preparing these financial statements, the Board is required to:

> select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

> make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

> state whether applicable accounting standards have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements;

> prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Board will continue in business.

The Board is responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any 

time the financial position of the Board and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the applicable legislation. They are also responsible for 

safeguarding the harbour’s assets and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

Financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006 and Harbours Act 1964 as amended by the Transport Act 1981.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF ABERDEEN HARBOUR BOARD

We have audited The Financial Statements of Aberdeen Harbour Board for the year ended 31 December 2015 set out on pages 38 to 60. The financial reporting 

framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting 

Practice), including FRS 102, The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland.

This report is made solely to the members of Aberdeen Harbour Board, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and Harbours Act 

1964, as amended by the Transport Act 1981. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the board’s members those matters we are required to 

state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the 

Board and the Board’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of Board and auditors

As explained more fully in the Statement of Responsibilities of the Board set out on page 36, the Board is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements 

and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the financial statements in accordance with applicable 

law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors.

Scope of the audit of The Financial Statements

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial 

statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an assessment of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to 

the Board’s circumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the Board; 

and the overall presentation of the financial statements. In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the Annual Report to identify material 

inconsistencies with the audited financial statements and to identify any information that is apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, 

the knowledge acquired by us in the course of performing the audit. If we become aware of any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the 

implications for our report.

Opinion on The Financial Statements

In our opinion the financial statements:

> give a true and fair view of the state of the Board’s affairs as at 31 December 2015 and of its profit for the year then ended;

> have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; and

> have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and Harbours Act 1964, as amended by the Transport Act 1981.

Opinion on other matter prescribed by the Companies Act 2006 and Harbours Act 1964, as amended by the Transport Act 1981

In our opinion the information given in the Strategic Report and the Report of the Board for the financial year, for which the financial statements are prepared, are 

consistent with the financial statements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 and Harbours Act 1964, as amended by the Transport Act 1981 requires 

us to report to you if, in our opinion:

> adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; or

> the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or

> certain disclosures of board members’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

> we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Jean Main (Senior Statutory Auditor)  

for, and on behalf of, Johnston Carmichael LLP

Chartered Accountants

Statutory Auditor

29 March 2016 

Bishop’s Court, 29 Albyn Place, Aberdeen, AB10 1YL
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PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

  2015  2014
 Notes £’000  £’000

TURNOVER 3 31,733  28,940

Cost of sales 4 (12,362 ) (12,247 )

GROSS PROFIT  19,371  16,693

Administrative expenses  (5,513 ) (5,493 )

OPERATING PROFIT 5 13,858  11,200

Interest receivable and similar income 8 1,174  1,162 

Fair value gains and losses on equity investments 12 (549 ) 609

Fair value gains and losses on investment properties 11 (4,771 ) 11,897 

Change in benefits in pension scheme 20 8,255  –

PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION  17,967  24,868

Taxation 9 (3,659 ) (2,754 )

PROFIT FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR  14,308  22,114

  

The Profit and Loss Account has been prepared on the basis that all operations are continuing operations.

  2015  2014
 Notes £’000  £’000

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR  14,308  22,114 

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Actuarial losses relating to pension surplus/(deficit) 20 (25 ) (2,900 )

Movement on deferred tax relating to pension surplus/(deficit)  5  580 

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR  (20 ) (2,320 )

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR  14,288  19,794 
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BALANCE SHEET
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2015

 2015 2014
 Notes  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000

FIXED ASSETS
Tangible assets 10   84,003    83,755 

Investment properties 11   32,236    36,982  

Investment 12   35,126    34,727 

     151,365    155,464 

CURRENT ASSETS
Stocks 14 65    58 

Debtors – deferred tax asset 18 1,517    1,106 

Debtors 15 5,156    5,759  

Cash at bank and in hand  24,312    12,095  

   31,050    19,018

CREDITORS
Amounts falling due within one year 16 (5,693)    (5,148 )  

NET CURRENT ASSETS     25,357    13,870

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES     176,722    169,334

CREDITORS 

Amounts falling due after more than one year 16   (1,823 )   (1,964 )

PROVISIONS FOR LIABILITIES 18   (1,951 )   (1,120 )

NET ASSETS EXCLUDING PENSION SURPLUS/(DEFICIT)     172,948    166,250 

DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) 20   5,233    (2,357 )

NET ASSETS     178,181    163,893 

RESERVES
Equity investment revaluation reserve 21   4,273    4,430

Investment property revaluation reserve 21   8,036    12,115 

Profit and loss reserves 21   165,872    147,348 

     178,181    163,893

The Financial Statements were approved by the Board and authorised for issue on 29 March 2016

A Y MacKenzie Chairman

C Parker Chief Executive
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       Equity  Investment 
       investment  property  Profit
       revaluation  revaluation  and loss 
       reserve  reserve  reserves  Total
 Notes    £’000    £’000    £’000    £’000

BALANCE AT 1 JANUARY 2014     3,874    –    140,225   144,099

Profit for the year     556    12,115    9,443    22,114 

Actuarial losses on defined benefit plans 20    –    –    (2,900 )   (2,900 )

Tax relating to other comprehensive income     –    –    580    580 

BALANCE AT 31 DECEMBER 2014     4,430    12,115    147,348   163,893 

PERIOD ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015: 

Profit for the year     (157 )   (4,079 )     18,544    14,308 

Actuarial losses on defined benefit plans 20     –    –      (25 )   (25 )

Tax relating to other comprehensive income      –    –      5    5 

BALANCE AT 31 DECEMBER 2015     4,273    8,036      165,872   178,181 
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

 2015 2014
 Notes  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
Cash generated from operations 26   17,633    16,055

Income taxes paid    (3,269 )   (2,916 )

NET CASH INFLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES    14,364    13,139

INVESTING ACTIVITIES 
Purchase of tangible fixed assets  (2,433 )   (2,259 ) 

Proceeds on disposal of tangible fixed assets  1    – 

Interest received  285    74 

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES    (2,147 )   (2,185 )

NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES    –    –

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS    12,217    10,954

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year    12,095    1,141

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR    24,312    12,095
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1 ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Board information

Aberdeen Harbour Board is a trust port having its principal place of business in Scotland. The registered office is 16 Regent Quay, Aberdeen, AB11 5SS.

Accounting convention

The financial statements are prepared in sterling, which is the functional currency of the Board. Monetary amounts in these financial statements are rounded to the 

nearest £000.

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost convention, modified to include the revaluation of investment properties and certain financial 

instruments at fair value. The principal accounting policies adopted are set out below.

These financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2015 are the first financial statements of Aberdeen Harbour Board prepared in accordance with FRS 102, 

The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland. The date of transition to FRS 102 was 1 January 2014. An explanation of how transition 

to FRS 102 has affected the reported financial position and financial performance is given in Note 25.

Going concern

The board members at the time of approving The Financial Statements, have a reasonable expectation that the Board has adequate resources to continue in operational 

existence for the foreseeable future. Thus they continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the financial statements.

Turnover

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received in respect of services provided in the normal course of business stated net of Value Added Tax. 

Rents receivable are recognised on a straight line basis over the lease term.

Tangible fixed assets

Tangible fixed assets are initially measured at cost and subsequently measured at cost or valuation, net of depreciation and any impairment losses.

Depreciation is calculated on a straight line basis on the asset costs using asset lives consistent with past practice, subject to a maximum quay life of 40 years. 

Dredgings are depreciated over a 40-year period. Dock, structures, roads and permanent ways are depreciated over the periods of between 20 and 40 years. Plant and 

machinery are depreciated on the basis of an economic life of 3 to 20 years depending on the nature of the asset. Floating craft is depreciated over a period of 15 years. 

Buildings are depreciated over the periods of between 20 and 40 years. Land and capital works in progress are not depreciated.

Included in capital works in progress are costs of £5.5 million in relation to the Nigg Bay Development project. The costs incurred to the balance sheet date are 

in relation to the initial assessment and feasibility of the Nigg Bay Development project. As at the balance sheet date, the Board is committed to progressing the 

feasibility study; however, a final decision on the project has not been made. If this project does not proceed these costs will be written off to the profit and loss account.

Investment properties

Investment property, which is property held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation, is measured using the fair value model and stated at its fair value as the 

reporting end date. The surplus or deficit on revaluation is recognised in the profit and loss account.

Fixed asset investments

Investments held as fixed assets are stated at market value. The gains and losses on the fair value of the investments are reported through the profit and loss account.

Impairment of fixed assets

At each reporting end date, the Board reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered 

an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). 

Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Board estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which 

the asset belongs.
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1 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont)

Impairment of fixed assets (continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their 

present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the 

estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating 

unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit and loss account, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued 

amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.

Recognised impairment losses are reversed if, and only if, the reasons for the impairment loss have ceased to apply. Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, 

the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount 

does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. 

A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit and loss account, unless the relevant asset is carried in at a revalued amount, in which case the 

reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

Stocks

Stocks are valued at lower of invoice cost on an average cost basis and estimated net realisable value. Provision is made for obsolete stock.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks and other short-term liquid investments with original maturities of twelve months or less.

Financial assets

The Board has elected to apply the provisions of Section 11 ‘Basic Financial Instruments’ and Section 12 ‘Other Financial Instruments Issues’ of FRS 102 to all of its 

financial instruments.

Financial assets are recognised in the Board’s balance sheet when the Board becomes party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets are classified into specified categories. The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time  

of recognition.

Basic financial assets, which include trade and other receivables and cash and bank balances, are initially measured at transaction price including transaction costs 

and are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method, unless the arrangement constitutes a financing transaction, where the transaction 

is measured at the present value of the future receipts discounted at a market rate of interest. Other financial assets classified as fair value through profit and loss 

account are measured at fair value.

Loans and receivables

Trade debtors, loans and other receivables that have fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market are classified as ‘loans and receivables’. 

Loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment.

Interest is recognised by applying the effective interest rate, except for short-term receivables when the recognition of interest would be immaterial. The effective 

interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating the interest income over the relevant period. The effective interest 

rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the debt instrument to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those held at fair value through profit and loss account, are assessed for indicators of impairment at each reporting end date.

Financial assets are impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, 

the estimated future cash flows have been affected. The impairment loss is recognised in profit and loss account.
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1 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont)

Financial assets (continued)

De-recognition of financial assets

Financial assets are de-recognised only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when the Board transfers the financial asset and 

substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to another entity.

Financial liabilities

Basic financial liabilities, including trade and other payables, are initially recognised at transaction price unless the arrangement constitutes a financing transaction, 

where the debt instrument is measured at the present value of the future receipts discounted at a market rate of interest.

Debt instruments are subsequently carried at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method.

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business from suppliers. Accounts payable are classified 

as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less. If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities. Trade payables are recognised initially at transaction 

price and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

De-recognition of financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are derecognised when, and only when, the Board’s obligations are discharged, cancelled, or they expire.

Taxation

The tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported in the profit and loss account because it excludes items 

of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The Board’s liability for current tax 

is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting end date.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all timing differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that they will be 

recovered against the reversal of deferred tax liabilities or other future taxable profits. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the timing difference arises from 

goodwill or from the initial recognition of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the tax profit nor the accounting profit.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting end date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits 

will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered. Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is 

settled or the asset is realised. Deferred tax is charged or credited in the profit and loss account, except when it relates to items charged or credited directly to equity, 

in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with in equity. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when the Board has a legally enforceable right to offset current 

tax assets and liabilities and the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to taxes levied by the same tax authority.

Employee benefits

The costs of short-term employee benefits are recognised as a liability and an expense, unless those costs are required to be recognised as part of the cost of stock or 

fixed assets.

The cost of any unused holiday entitlement is recognised in the period in which the employee’s services are received.

Termination benefits are recognised immediately as an expense when the Board is demonstrably committed to terminate the employment of an employee or to provide 

termination benefits.
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1 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont)

Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessees. All other leases are 

classified as operating leases.

Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets at the lower of the assets’ fair value at the date of inception and the present value of the minimum lease 

payments. The related liability is included in the balance sheet as a finance lease obligation. Lease payments are treated as consisting of capital and interest elements. 

The interest is charged to the profit and loss account so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.

Rentals payable under operating leases, including any lease incentives received, are charged to income on a straight line basis over the term of the relevant lease 

except where another more systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the lease asset are consumed.

Capital investment grants

Capital investment grants are credited to the profit and loss account over the expected useful lives of the relevant fixed assets.

Finance lease receivables

Interest from finance leasing contracts, being in excess of amounts received over the cost in finance leasing contracts, is taken to profit and loss account reducing 

capital invested throughout the period of the contract.

Amounts receivable under finance leases are included within other debtors.

Retirement benefits

The Board operates two defined benefit pension schemes.

> For the main scheme, in accordance with FRS 102, the service cost of pension provision relating to the year, together with the cost of any benefits relating to past 

service, is charged to operating profit. A charge equal to interest on the scheme liabilities and a credit equivalent to the long-term expected return on assets are 

included in the profit and loss account under ‘Interest Receivable and Similar Income’. The difference between the market value of the scheme and the present 

value of the accrued pension liabilities is shown as an asset or liability on the balance sheet. Deferred tax is recognised in relation to the timing differences arising 

on pension costs. Any difference between the net interest on assets and the return actually achieved is recognised in the statement of other comprehensive income 

along with differences which arise from other experience or assumption changes.

> The Pilots’ National Pension Fund is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme as the Board’s ultimate share of assets and liabilities cannot be identified.

The Board also operates a defined contribution pension scheme. Contributions payable to the Board’s pension scheme are charged to the profit and loss account in the 

period to which they relate. Differences between contributions payable in the year and contributions actually paid are shown as either accruals or prepayments in the 

balance sheet.

2 JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Board’s accounting policies, the board members are required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amount of 

assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors 

that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is 

revised, if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

The estimates and assumptions which have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities are outlined over the page:
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2 JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (cont)

Critical judgements

The following judgements (apart from those involving estimates) have had the most significant effect on amounts recognised in the financial statements.

Useful economic life of fixed assets

Land & Buildings, Dredging, Dock Structures, Plant & Machinery, and Floating Craft are depreciated over the useful lives of the assets. Useful lives are based on the 

Board’s estimates of the period that the assets will generate revenue, which are reviewed annually for continued appropriateness. The carrying values are tested for 

impairment when there is an indication that the value of the assets might be impaired. When carrying out impairment tests, these would be based upon future cash 

flow forecasts and these forecasts would be based upon management judgement. Future events could cause the assumptions to change.

The board members have considered whether or not there were indicators of impairment and concluded that at the balance sheet date none were identified. The 

assessment included both external sources such as the market conditions, and internal sources such as physical damage and obsolescence.

Income taxes

The Board is subject to income taxation in the UK, where judgement arises in determining the provision for income taxes. During the ordinary course of business, there 

are transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. As a result, the Board recognises tax liabilities based on estimates of whether 

additional taxes and interest will be due. The Board believes its accruals for tax liabilities and provisions for deferred tax are adequate for all financial years based on 

its assessment of many factors including past experience and interpretations of tax law. This assessment relies on estimates and assumptions and may involve a series 

of judgements about future events. To the extent that the final tax outcome of these matters is different than the amounts recorded, such differences will impact on the 

taxation charge made in the profit and loss account in the period in which such determination is made.

Defined benefit pension schemes

Accounting for pensions and other-post retirement benefits involves judgements about uncertain events including estimated retirement dates, salary levels at 

retirement, mortality rates, determination of discount rates for measuring plans obligations and net interest expense and assumptions for inflation rates.

Pension and other post retirement assumptions are reviewed by the Board at the end of each year. These assumptions are used to determine the projected benefit 

obligations at the year end and hence surpluses and deficits are recorded on the Board’s balance sheet, and pension and other post-retirement benefit expense for the 

following year.

The assumptions used are provided in Note 20.

3 TURNOVER

An analysis of the Board’s turnover is as follows:

 2015  2014
 £’000  £’000

Turnover 

Dues: on vessels 13,530  11,254

Dues: on goods 7,957  7,150

Cranage and weighbridge 234  265

Storage 523  493

Rent 6,493  6,593

Pilotage 2,847  3,027

Other revenue 149  158

 31,733  28,940

Other significant revenue 

Interest income 218  151 

Dividends receivable (net) 956  1,011
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4 COST OF SALES

 2015  2014
 £’000  £’000

Operating and maintenance 9,392  8,500

Dredging 469  518

Major maintenance –  740

Depreciation (net of grants) 2,501  2,489

 12,362  12,247

5 OPERATING PROFIT

 2015  2014
 £’000  £’000

Operating profit for the year is stated after charging/(crediting): 

Direct costs of pilotage 2,298  1,977 

Capital investment grants (5 ) (5 )

Fees payable to the Board’s auditors for the audit of the Board’s annual accounts 20  19 

Depreciation of owned tangible fixed assets 2,953  3,931 

(Profit)/loss on disposal of fixed assets (1 ) 292 

Major maintenance: Blaikies Quay refurbishment – repair element –  740 

Operating lease charges 357  350 

    

 

6 EMPLOYEES 
The average monthly number of persons (including executive board members) employed by the Board during the year was:

 2015  2014
 Number  Number

Executive Board Member 3  3

Administrative and Managerial 26  23

Operating and Maintenance 66  67

 95  93

Their aggregate remuneration comprised:
 2015  2014
 £’000  £’000

Wages and salaries 5,099  4,980

Social security costs 512  492

Pension costs 1,905  1,603

 7,516  7,075
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7 BOARD MEMBERS’ REMUNERATION

 2015  2014
 £’000  £’000

Remuneration for qualifying services 613  621

The number of board members for whom retirement benefits are accruing under defined contribution schemes amounted to 1 (2014 : 0). 

The number of board members for whom retirement benefits are accruing under defined benefit schemes amounted to 1 (2014 : 2).  

Amount accrued in respect of the highest paid board member at 31 December 2015 was £nil (2014 : £112,080). 

Remuneration disclosed above include the following amounts paid to the highest paid board member: 

Remuneration for qualifying services 246  219

8  INTEREST RECEIVABLE AND SIMILAR INCOME

 2015  2014
 £’000 £’000

Interest income 

Interest on bank deposits 175  20 

Other interest income 110  54 

Total interest revenue 285  74 

Other income from investments 

Dividends receivable (net) 956  1,011 

 1,241  1,085 

Other finance income 

Return on pension scheme assets 2,188  2,609 

Interest on pension scheme liabilities (2,255 ) (2,532 )

 (67 ) 77 

Total interest receivable and similar income 1,174  1,162 
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9  TAXATION

 2015  2014
 £’000 £’000

Current tax 

UK corporation tax on profits for the current period 3,307  2,956 

Over-provision in respect to prior years (68 ) – 

Total current tax 3,239  2,956 

Deferred tax 

Accelerated capital allowances (42 ) 95 

Change in value of investment properties (692 ) (218 )

Change in value of equity investments (392 ) 53 

Unpaid pension contributions 27  19 

Timing differences on pension costs 1,519  (151 )

Total deferred tax 420  (202 )

Total tax charge 3,659  2,754 

The charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit per the profit and loss account as follows:
 2015  2014
 £’000 £’000

Profit before taxation 17,967  24,868 

Expected tax charge based on a corporation tax rate of 20.25% (2014 : 21.50%) 3,638  5,347 

Items not deductible for tax purposes 303  477 

Indexation on capital gains (214 ) (3,070 )

Corporation tax adjustments in respect of prior years (68 ) – 

Tax expense for the year 3,659  2,754 

In addition to the amount charged to the profit and loss account, the following amounts relating to tax have been recognised  

directly in other comprehensive income:
 2015  2014
 £’000 £’000

Deferred tax arising on: 

Actuarial differences recognised as other comprehensive income (5 ) (580 )
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10 TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS

     Docks,
     Structures,
 Land and    Roads and      Capital
 Buildings    Permanent  Plant and  Floating  Works in
 Freehold  Dredging  Way  Machinery  Craft  Progress  Total
 £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000

COST 

At 1 January 2015 26,918  9,767  90,854  9,320  2,406  2,575  141,840 

Additions –  –  37  85  –  3,079  3,201 

Transfers –  –  –  110  –  (110 ) – 

Disposals (675 ) –  –  (438 ) –  –  (1,113 ) 

At 31 December 2015 26,243  9,767  90,891  9,077  2,406  5,544  143,928 

DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT  

At 1 January 2015 8,603  2,062  39,365  6,945  1,110  –  58,085 

Depreciation charged in the year 346  214  1,770  463  160  –  2,953 

Eliminated in respect of disposals (675 ) –  –  (438 ) –  –  (1,113 )

At 31 December 2015 8,274  2,276  41,135  6,970  1,270  –  59,925 

CARRYING AMOUNT
At 31 December 2015 17,969  7,491  49,756  2,107  1,136  5,544  84,003 

At 31 December 2014 18,315  7,705  51,489  2,375  1,296  2,575  83,755 

Included in cost of land and buildings is freehold land of £11,782,959 (2014 : £11,782,959), which is not depreciated.
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11 INVESTMENT PROPERTY

  2015
  £’000

Fair value

At 1 January 2015  36,982

Additions through external acquisition  25

Net gains or losses through fair value adjustments  (4,771 )

At 31 December 2015  32,236

The fair value of the investment property has been arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried out at 7 May 2015 by J & E Shepherd Chartered Surveyors, who are 

independent from the Board. The valuation was made on an open market value basis by reference to market evidence of transaction prices for similar properties as at  

31 December 2014. The Board has assessed the current market conditions at 31 December 2015 to arrive at its year end valuation.

12 INVESTMENTS

 Fixed Assets
 2015 2014
 £’000 £’000

Listed investments 35,126 34,727

 35,126 34,727

Movements in fixed asset investments
  Shares
  £000

Valuation

At 1 January 2015  34,727

Additions  948

Valuation changes  (549 )

At 31 December 2015  35,126

Carrying amount

At 31 December 2015  35,126

At 31 December 2014  34,727

 

The fair value of listed investments is determined by reference to the quoted price for identical assets in an active market at the balance sheet date.

Aberdeen Harbour Limited

Aberdeen Harbour Board owns 100% of the issued share capital of Aberdeen Harbour Limited a company incorporated in Scotland. Aberdeen Harbour Limited is engaged 

in the business of renting out property.

The results of Aberdeen Harbour Limited are not material and therefore group financial statements have not been prepared. For the year ended 31 December 2015, the 

company reported results for the year of £nil and net assets of £1.

At 31 December 2015, Aberdeen Harbour Board owed Aberdeen Harbour Limited £nil (2014 : £4,987).

The Board charged Aberdeen Harbour Limited £366,423 (2014 : £380,007) for rent and £2,000 (2014 : £2,000) in respect of management charges.



52  Aberdeen Harbour Board Annual Review 2015/16

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

13 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

 2015  2014
 £’000  £’000

Carrying amount of financial assets 

Debt instruments measured at amortised cost 28,019  17,232

Equity instruments measured at fair value through profit and loss account 35,126  34,727

Instruments measured at fair value through profit and loss account 927  322

 64,072  52,281

Carrying amount of financial liabilities 

Measured at fair value through profit and loss account 1,951  2,087

Measured at amortised cost 3,872  3,295

 5,823  5,382

14 STOCKS

 2015  2014
 £’000  £’000

Stocks 65  58

15 DEBTORS

 2015  2014
Amounts falling due within one year: £’000  £’000

Trade debtors 3,250  3,572

Other debtors 1,384  1,887

Prepayments and accrued income 522  300

 5,156  5,759

Amounts falling due after one year: 

Deferred tax asset (Note 18) 1,517  1,106

Total debtors 6,673  6,865

Other debtors include £875,000 (2014 : £309,000) falling due after one year.



Aberdeen Harbour Board Annual Review 2015/2016   53

16 CREDITORS

 Due within one year Due after one year
  2015  2014  2015  2014
 Notes £000  £000  £000  £000

Taxation and social security  1,683  1,715  –  –

Capital investment grants 19 –  –  10  15

Trade creditors  243  528  –  –

Rent payments received on account  1,228  1,243  –  –

Accruals  1,630  510  –  –

Other creditors  909  1,152  1,813  1,949

  5,693  5,148  1,823  1,964

17 PROVISION FOR LIABILITIES

      2015  2014
 Notes     £000  £000

Deferred tax liabilities 18     1,951  1,120

      1,951  1,120 

18 DEFERRED TAXATION

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and assets recognised by the Board and movements thereon:

  Liabilities  Liabilities  Assets  Assets
  2015  2014  2015  2014
Balances:  £000  £000  £000  £000

Accelerated capital allowances  904  946  –  –

Pension contributions unpaid at the year end  –  –  390  417

Unrealised gain on investments  –  174  218  –

Unrealised gain on investment properties  –  –  909  218

Deferred tax on defined pension scheme  1,047  –  –  471

  1,951  1,120  1,517  1,106

        2015
Movements in the year:        £000

Net liability at 1 January 2015        14

Charge to profit or loss        420

Net liability at 31 December 2015        434
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19 CAPITAL INVESTMENT GRANTS

 2015 2014
 £’000 £’000

Capital investment grants 10  15

 10  15

20 RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

Defined contribution schemes

The Board operates a defined contribution pension plan for its employees. The amount recognised as an expense in the year was £204,175 (2014 : £95,535).

Defined benefit schemes

The Board operates a defined benefit pension plan for qualifying employees providing benefits based upon final pensionable pay. The pension plan is funded by payment 

of contributions and the assets of the plan are held in a separately administered fund. The fund was closed to new members on the 31 October 2013.

The most recent triennial valuation was carried out at 31 March 2014 and this showed that the market value of the Fund’s assets were £58.6 million and that the 

actuarial value of those assets represented 106% of the benefits that had accrued to the members after allowing for the expected future increases in earnings. The 

contributions to the scheme are determined by a qualified actuary and in 2015 were £1,109,000 (2014 : £950,000).

During the year the Board made amendments to the Scheme through changing the basis of which all pension increases are calculated from Retail Price Index (RPI) to the 

Consumer Price Index (CPI) and by closing the early retirement option. The changes took effect from 1 April 2015 and resulted in a benefit change gain of £8,255,000.

The Board is also contributing for two current employees to a defined benefit pension plan called the Pilots’ National Pension Fund (PNPF). The PNPF is unusual in that 

the membership of the Fund includes both employed and self employed members. As at 31 December 2013 the valuation of the Fund’s assets totalled £270.6 million, 

which represented 57% of the liabilities and resulted in a deficit of £203 million. A decision of the courts in June 2010 determined that the Trustees of the PNPF could 

amend the Trust Deed and Rules so that all Competent Harbour Authorities (pilot licensing authorities) whether direct employees or not would have a joint and several 

responsibilities to meet any funding deficit.

The Board’s share of the funding deficit based on the Trustee’s most recent valuation advice has been estimated at £2.53 million, which the Trustees have agreed will be 

payable by monthly instalments over a 16-year period commencing on 1 January 2013. The obligation is included within other creditors at the year end measured at its 

present value of future cash flows.

In accordance with FRS 102, transactions with the PNPF are accounted for as if the Fund were a defined contribution scheme as there is insufficient information available 

to use defined benefit accounting for the multi-employer plan. During the year employer contributions paid to the PNPF amounted to £18,963 (2014 : £27,245). These 

have been included in cost of sales in the profit and loss account.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015
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20 RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

 2015  2014
 %  %

The principal actuarial assumptions of the Board’s defined benefit scheme were as follows: 

Discount rate 3.80  3.60 

Expected rate of salary increases 3.85  3.85 

Expected rate of increase of pension increases 2.10  3.10 

Inflation (RPI) 3.10  3.10 

Inflation (CPI) 2.10  2.10 

The mortality assumptions used for longevity (in years) on retirement at age 65 are: 
 2015  2014
 Years  Years 

Retired male member age 65 (current life expectancy) 22.6  22.6 

Non-retired male member aged 40 (life expectancy at 65) 24.9  24.8 

Total amounts recognised in the year for the Board’s defined benefit pension plan were as follows: 

 2015  2014 
 £000  £000 

Current service cost 1,468  1,516 

Net interest on defined benefit liability/(asset) 67  (77 )

Changes in benefits (8,255 ) _ 

Administrative costs 214  270 

Total (income) / costs (6,506 ) 1,709 

Amounts taken to other comprehensive income:
 2015  2014
 £000  £000 

Effect of changes in assumptions 1,509  (5,110 )

Return on plan assets (1,534 ) 2,210 

Actuarial losses (25 ) (2,900 )
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20 RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

Amounts recognised in the balance sheet were as follows:
 2015  2014
 £’000  £’000

Present value of defined benefit obligations (54,842 ) (64,491 )

Fair value of plan assets 60,075  62,134

Total surplus / (deficit) recognised 5,233  (2,357 )

Changes in the present value of the defined benefits obligation are as follows: 
   2015
   £’000 

Liabilities at 1 January 2015   64,491

Current service cost   1,468

Interest cost   2,255

Actuarial (gains) / losses   (1,509 )

Changes in benefits   (8,255 )

Contributions by scheme members   167

Benefits paid   (3,718 )

Insurance premiums for risk benefits   (57 )

At 31 December 2015   54,842

The Board expects to contribute £1,117,000 to its pension scheme in 2016. 

Movements in the fair value of plan assets:
   2015
   £’000 

Fair value of assets at 1 January 2015   62,134

Interest income   2,188

Return on plan assets (excluding amounts included in net interest)   (1,534 )

Administrative expenses   (214 )

Insurance premiums for risk   (57 )

Contributions by the employer   1,109

Contributions by scheme members   167

Benefits paid   (3,718 )

At 31 December 2015   60,075

The fair value of plan assets at the reporting period end was as follows:
 2015  2014
 £’000  £’000

Equity instruments 15,216  15,789

Debt instruments 18,232  19,988

Diversified growth fund 26,457  26,347

Cash and net current assets 170  10

 60,075  62,134

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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21 RESERVES

Equity investment revaluation reserves

The equity investment revaluation reserve represents the cumulative effect of revaluations net of deferred tax of listed investments where a policy of revaluation has 

been adopted.

Investment properties revaluation reserve

The investment properties revaluation reserve represents the cumulative effect of revaluations net of deferred tax of investment properties. The reserve has been made 

to separately identify non-distributable profits from distributable profits.

Profit and loss reserves

The profit and loss account represents cumulative realisable profits and losses.

22 CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

  2015  2014
 £’000  £’000

At 31 December 2015 the Board had capital commitments as follows:

Contracted for but not provided in The Financial Statements: 

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment 452  –

23 OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

Lessee

As at 31 December 2015 the Board had annual commitments under non-cancellable operating leases of £345,200 in respect of land and buildings (2014 : £325,200).  

The expiry period is after five years.

Lessor 

The Board owns 24 investment properties for rental purposes. Rental income earned during the year was £6,493,000. All operating lease contracts contain market 

review clauses in the event that the lessee exercises its option to renew. The lessee does not have an option to purchase the property at the expiry of the lease period.

At the reporting end date the Board had contracted with tenants for the following minimum lease payments:

  2015  2014
 £’000  £’000

Within one year 3,374  3,260

Between two and five years 8,655  9,248

In over five years 5,271  5,860

 17,300  18,368
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24 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Remuneration of key management personnel

The remuneration of key management personnel, some of whom are also board members, is as follows:

 2015  2014
 £’000  £’000

Aggregate compensation 959  856

No guarantees have been given or received.

25 RECONCILIATIONS ON ADOPTION OF FRS  102

Reconciliation of equity 
 At 1 January 2014 At 31 December 2014
   Previous UK  Effect of  FRS 102  Previous UK  Effect of  FRS 102
   GAAP  transition    GAAP  transition
 Notes  £000  £000  £000  £000  £000  £000

Fixed assets 
Tangible assets   111,503  (25,085 ) 86,418  107,855  (24,101 ) 83,755
Investment properties 1  –  25,085  25,085  –  36,982  36,982
Investments   33,126  –  33,126  34,727  –  34,727

   144,629  –  144,629  142,582  12,881  155,464

Current assets 
Stocks   72  –  72  58  –  58
Debtors – deferred tax 2  –  435  435  –  1,106  1,106
Debtors   4,923  –  4,923  5,759  –  5,759
Bank and cash   1,141  –  1,141  12,095  –  12,095

   6,136  435  6,571  17,912  1,106  19,018

Creditors due within one year 
Taxation   1,669  –  1,669  1,715  –  1,715
Other creditors   3,404  –  3,404  3,433  –  3,433

   5,073  –  5,073  5,148  –  5,148

Net current assets   1,063  435  1,498  12,764  1,106  13,870

Total assets less current liabilities   145,692  435  146,127  155,346  13,987  169,334

Creditors due after one year 
Other creditors 3  2,429  (351 ) 2,078  2,300  (351 ) 1,949
Deferred income   20  –  20  15  –  15

   2,449  (351 ) 2,098  2,315  (351 ) 1,964

Provisions for liabilities 
Deferred tax   466  506  972  632  448  1,120

Pension obligations   –  –  –  1,886  471  2,357

   466  506  972  2,518  919  3,477

Pension surplus   1,042  –  1,042  –  –  – 

Net assets   143,819  280  144,099  150,513  13,380  163,893

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015
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25 RECONCILIATIONS ON ADOPTION OF FRS 102

Reconciliation of equity 
 At 1 January 2014 At 31 December 2014
   Previous UK  Effect of  FRS 102  Previous UK  Effect of  FRS 102
   GAAP  transition    GAAP  transition
 Notes  £000  £000  £000  £000  £000  £000

Reserves 
Revaluation reserve 4  3,874  (3,874 ) –  4,430  (4,430 ) –
Equity investment revaluation reserve 4  –  3,874  3,874  –  4,430  4,430
Investment property revaluation reserve 1  –  –  –  –  12,115  12,115

Profit and loss   139,945  280  140,225  146,083  1,265  147,348

Total equity   143,819  280  144,099  150,513  13,380  163,893

Reconciliation of profit and loss account 
  At 31 December 2014
         Previous UK  Effect of  FRS 102
         GAAP  transition
 Notes        £000  £000  £000

Turnover         28,940  –  28,940

Cost of sales         (12,247 ) –  (12,247 )

Gross profit         16,693  –  16,693
Administrative expenses 5        (6,172 ) 690  (5,493 )
Interest receivable and similar income 6        1,881  (719 ) 1,162
Fair value gains and losses on investments 7        –  609  609

Fair value gains and losses on investment properties 1        –  11,897  11,897

Profit before taxation         12,402  12,477  24,868

Taxation 8        (3,123 ) 369  (2,754 )

Profit for the financial year         9,279  12,846  22,114

Notes to reconciliations on adoption of FRS 102

1. Investment properties

As required under FRS 102, the Board has re-classified certain land and buildings as investment properties under FRS 102. At the transition date the investment 
properties were re-classified at deemed cost. The investment properties were fair valued at the year end 31 December 2014 and gain of £11.9 million on the investment 
properties has been recognised in the profit and loss account. The fair value movements net of deferred tax on investment properties are reported in the non-distributable 
investment property revaluation reserve.

2. Deferred tax asset

The deferred tax asset has been recognised on the revaluation of the investment properties and equity investments.

3. PNPF deficit

The PNPF deficit has been discounted to the present value of future cash flows. The deferred tax in relation to this has been recognised.

4. Revaluation reserve

The revaluation reserve under UK GAAP was used to cumulate the effects of the revaluation of the listed investments. Under FRS 102, this reserve has been transferred 
to the equity investment revaluation reserve.
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25 RECONCILIATIONS ON ADOPTION OF FRS 102

5. Administrative expenses

The transitional adjustments to administrative expenses relate to the add back of £985,000 depreciation in relation to the investment properties previously classified as 
freehold land and buildings, and changes in the administration expenses in relation to the defined benefit pension scheme.

6. Interest receivable and other similar income

The transitional adjustment to interest receivable and similar income relates to changes of interest costs and expected return on assets of the defined benefit pension 
scheme.

7. Equity investments

Under previous UK GAAP, the revaluations of the listed investments were reported in the statement of total recognised gains and losses. Under FRS 102, the fair value 
movements are recognised in the profit and loss account.

8. Taxation

The transitional adjustments to the taxation charge for the year relates to the impact of the movements in the profit and loss account under FRS 102 which were 
previously reported through the statement of total recognised gains and losses under UK GAAP.

26 CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS

 2015  2014
 £’000  £’000

Profit for the year 14,308  22,114

Adjustments for: 

Income tax expense 3,659  2,754

Investment income (956 ) (1,011 )

(Gain)/loss on disposal of tangible fixed assets (1 ) 292

Fair value gains and losses on investment properties 4,771  (11,897 )

Fair value gains and losses on investments 549  (609 )

Depreciation and impairment of tangible fixed assets 2,953  2,946

Pension scheme non-cash movement (7,914 ) 1,115

Movements in working capital: 

(Increase)/decrease in stocks (7 ) 14

Decrease in debtors 601  53

(Decrease)/increase in creditors (325 ) 289

Decrease in capital investment grants (5 ) (5 )

Cash generated from operations 17,633  16,055

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015
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 2015 2014
 £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000

Turnover

Dues on vessels   13,530    11,254

Dues on goods   7,957    7,150

Rent   6,493    6,593

Pilotage   2,847    3,027

Storage   523    493

Cranage and weighbridge   234    265

Other revenue   149    158

   31,733    28,940

Cost of sales

Dredging costs 469    518 

Wages and salaries 4,166    3,803 

Social security costs 388    247 

Staff pension costs defined contribution 1,332    1,603 

Major maintenance –    740 

Operating and maintenance 3,506    2,847 

Depreciation 2,501    2,489 

   (12,362 )   (12,247 )

Gross profit 61.04%  19,371  57.68%  16,693

Administrative expenses   (5,513 )   (5,493 )

Operating profit   13,858    11,200

Investment revenues

Bank interest received 175    20 

Other interest received on financial instruments 110    54 

Net interest on defined benefit asset 2,188    2,609 

Interest due on finance lease receivable (2,255 )   (2,532 ) 

Dividends receivable (net) 956    1,011 

   1,174    1,162

Profit before taxation 45.64%  15,032  44.82%  12,362

DETAILED TRADING AND PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015
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  2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

Number of vessels

European Union  1,764 1,922 1,670 1,741 1,775

Foreign (excl. EU)  277 324 297 267 267

Offshore Oil  5,254 5,601 5,687 5,861 5,421

Fishing  121 83 167 264 312

Cruise  12 7 13 9 9

  7,428 7,937 7,834 8,142 7,784

Tonnage of Vessels (Thousand Gross Tonnes)

European Union  7,822 7,629 8,103 8,091 8,177

Foreign (excl. EU)  1,537 1,758 1,710 1,439 1,260

Offshore Oil  18,084 18,675 18,226 18,591 16,404

Fishing  19 10 24 23 20

Cruise  45 34 61 44 50

  27,507 28,106 28,124 28,188 25,911

Traffic Statistics (Thousand Tonnes)

Goods Inwards

Commercial Traffic  1,496 1,588 1,705 1,708 1,660

Offshore Oil Traffic  541 548 541 582 500

  2,037 2,136 2,246 2,290 2,160

Goods Outwards

Commercial Traffic  679 753 700 723 660

Offshore Oil Traffic  1,800 1,858 1,936 2,126 1,944

  2,479 2,611 2,635 2,849 2,604

Total Goods Inwards and Outwards  4,516 4,747 4,882 5,139 4,764

Number of Passengers  158,226 153,756 155,490 145,105 150,735

SHIPPING AND TRAFFIC STATISTICS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015
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NOTES



THE KEY TO ABERDEEN HARBOUR 

BOARD’S ONGOING SUCCESS IS ITS STAFF. 

THE DEDICATED TEAM AT THE PORT IS 

PROFESSIONAL, EXPERIENCED AND 

PRACTICED IN ENSURING THE CONTINUED 

HIGH STANDARDS OF SERVICE AND 

FACILITIES PROVIDED TO OUR CUSTOMERS 

ARE UPHELD AND MAINTAINED.



BOB PEAT
09.12.1983 to 24.08.2015

BARRY STANDERLINE 
05.10.1961 to 27.01.2016

In Memory of



Heaven 42 is produced from Totally Chlorine-Free 
(TCF) virgin fibre wood pulp from sustainable forest 
sources and is FSC Certified in accordance with the 
rules of The Forest Stewardship Council.
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